
1 

REVISED 
GOLDSBORO CITY COUNCIL  
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA  
TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 5, 2023 

 (Please turn off, or silence, all cellphones upon entering the Council Chambers) 

I. WORK SESSION–5:00 P.M. – LARGE CONF. RM, CITY HALL ADDITION, 200 N. CENTER ST., ROOM 206 
1. ROLL CALL

2. ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA

3. OLD BUSINESS
a. HOME-ARP Update (Community Relations)
b. Goldsboro Police Department Pay Update (Police)
c. Goldsboro Fire Department Pay Update (Fire)

4. NEW BUSINESS
d. Downtown Master Plan History & Update (Downtown Development)

II. CALL TO ORDER – 7:00 P.M. – COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 214 N. CENTER STREET
Invocation
Pledge of Allegiance

III. ROLL CALL

IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
A. Minutes of the Work Session and Regular Meeting of August 21, 2023

V. PRESENTATIONS 

VI. PUBLIC HEARINGS
B. Z-12-23 Dearing Automotive & Diesel, Inc. (Residential 16 to Highway Business) – West side of US 117

Hwy. between Belfast Rd. and Scale Dr. (Planning) 
C. UDO-3-23 City of Goldsboro Code of Ordinances: Chapter 118: Sidewalk Café (Planning) 

VII. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD

VIII. CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS
D. Accept or Reject Initial Bid and Authorize Finance to Advertise for Upset Bids for 200 N. Carolina Street

to Housing Authority of the City of Goldsboro (Finance) 
E. South Center Street Residential Infill RFQ (Downtown Development)
F. Small Batch Craft Event – Temporary Street Closure (Nov 12) (Police)
G. Small Batch Craft Event – Temporary Street Closure (Dec 10) (Police)
H. Sale of City Right-of-Way for NCDOT Project U-4753 (Assistant City Manager)
I. Workers' Compensation Coverage Exemption Certification Form (City Manager)

IX. ITEMS REQUIRING INDIVIDUAL ACTION

X. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

XI. CEREMONIAL DOCUMENTS
J. National Suicide Prevention Awareness Month Proclamation

XII. MAYOR AND COUNCILMEMBERS’ COMMENTS

XIII. CLOSED SESSION

XIV. ADJOURN

Moved to 
Individual Action Bid Rejected

Withdrawal Approved

(Councilwoman Hiawatha Jones)



w.s. a



HOME-ARP
Update
Sept. 5, 2023

Community Relations & Development



Timeline of Events
• Oct. 17, 2022: Invited non-profits made presentations to Council 

on how their respective agencies could best utilize HOME-ARP 
funding.

• Dec. 19, 2022 : CR&D updated Council and informed that the 
initial focus for HOME-ARP dollars should be centered on which 
eligible activities the City wishes to fund.  Council moved to use 
funding for Non-congregate Shelter (NCS) & Supportive Services.

• Jan. 10, 2023: CCRD agreed to recommend to Council that the 
HOME-ARP allocation be split at 60% for NCS and 40% for 
Supportive Services.

• Jan. 23, 2023: CR&D and CCRD presented to Council. CCRD 
Chair made the recommendation of the 60/40 allocation split.  
Council moved to distribute remaining funds (minus 15% Admin. 
dollars) at the 60/40 split as recommended.

HOME-ARP Update September 5, 2023 2



Allocation Breakdown

HOME-ARP Update

Total Allocation $907,913

Administration (15%) $136,186.95

Remaining Allocation $771,726.05

Non-Congregate Shelter 
(60%)

$463,035.63

Supportive Services 
(40%)

$308, 690.42

September 5, 2023 3



To Date:

HOME-ARP Update September 5, 2023 4

√
CR&D Staff combing through the federal regulations on: 
Administration/Non-Congregate Shelter/Supportive 
Services

√ Reviewed City-owned properties as possible NCS options

√ Researched locally owned properties as possible NCS 
options

√ Scheduled consultations with HUD

√
Developing the required NCS Program Guidelines,  
Supportive Services Program Guidelines, HOME-ARP 
Underwriting and Subsidy Layering Guidelines, NCS Unit 
Project Pre-Application, & NCS Unit Project RFP 



Next Steps…

HOME-ARP Update September 5, 2023 5

Enter Enter into written agreements between January – 
February 2024

Identify Identify Owner/Developer/Agency to operate NCS 
& provide Supportive Services by Dec. 31st 

Post Post RFP’s and Pre-application before Thanksgiving 
Holiday

Return Return to Council for approval of Program 
Guidelines, no later than Oct. 16th Council meeting



Thank you
Community Relations & Development

HOME-ARP Update September 5, 2023 6



GOLDSBORO POLICE DEPARTMENT

Michael D. West, Chief of Police

September 5, 2023

w.s item b



8/30/2023 2

VACANCIES



8/30/2023 3

VACANCIES
Type of Separation (Sworn) 2020 2021 2022 Total (last 3 years)

Retirement 4 1 3 8

Terminated 2 0 1 3

Other LE Agency 5 8 7 20

Other Career/Education 0 5 1 6

Other/Undisclosed 6 4 2 12

Total 17 18 14 49

2020 2021 2022 Total (last 3 years)

# Hired 7 7 11 25



8/30/2023 4

CRIME DATA
PART I CRIMES 2022 2023 Trend

Month (July) 168 213 +27%

YTD (July) 1122 1273 +13%

CLEARANCE RATES 2022 2023 Trend

Month (July) 10% 8% -2%

YTD (July) 10% 13% +3%

SHOTSPOTTER 2022 2023 Trend

Month (July) 37 112 +202%

YTD (July) 302 476 +57%



8/30/2023 5

SALARY COMPARISONS
ENTRY BASE Goldsboro WCSO Wilson Princeton Kinston Garner Clayton Smithfield Raleigh

Chapel 
Hill

2022 $38,505 $41,000 $41,064 $45,379 $40,278 $47,060 $45,404 $42,416 $42,300 $50,000

2023 $41,239 $50,000 $49,859 $45,379 $40,278 $54,708 $61,522 $48,789 $50,301 $50,000

Other Agency Incentives:
• Wilson offers higher incentives for probation, progression, 

sworn service, military service, education
• Princeton offers higher incentive for probation
• Kinston offers higher incentive for progression
• Raleigh offers higher incentives for experience and 

education
• Chapel Hill offers higher incentives for language, education, 

POPAT, Advanced LE certificate

Current GPD Incentives:
• CJ Standards Probation = 5%
• Sworn service/ military service = 1%/year
• Career Progression I, II, Senior = 5% (each level)
• Education = 2.5% to 5%
• Language = 5%
• FTO = 5%
• K9 Officer = 5%
• Traffic Officer = 5%



8/30/2023 6

PROPOSAL A

Position Current Pay Grade/Salary Proposed Pay Grade

61/41 Police Officer 73 $41,239.41 - $65,158.27 77 $50,126.76 - $79,200.28

23 Corporal 76 $47,739.77 - $75,428.84 79 $55,264.75 - $87,318.31

11 Sergeant 77 $50,126.76 - $79,200.28 81 $60,929.39 - $96,268.44

8 Captain 80 $58,027.99 - $91,684.23 83 $67,174.65 - $106,135.96

3 Major 85 $74,060.06 - $117,014.89 86 $77,763.06 - $122,865.64

1 Chief 89 $90,020.46 - $142,232.33 89 $90,020.46 - $142,232.33

107 Total $5,613,904.31 
Budget Adopted 
$5,787,592.80

$6,619,274.02

(-831,681.22)



8/30/2023 7

PROPOSAL B
Position Current Pay Grade/Salary Proposed Pay Grade

61/41 Police Officer 73 $41,239.41 - $65,158.27 76,77,78,79 $47,739.78 - $75,428.85

23 Corporal 76 $47,739.77 - $75,428.84 79 $55,264.75 - $87,318.30

11 Sergeant 77 $50,126.76 - $79,200.28 81 $60,929.39 - $96,268.45

8 Captain 80 $58,027.99 - $91,684.23 83 $67,174.65 - $106,135.97

3 Major 85 $74,060.06 - $117,014.89 86 $77,763.06 - $122,865.64

1 Chief 89 $90,020.46 - $142,232.33 89 $90,020.46 - $142,232.33

107 Total $5,613,904.31 
Budget Adopted 
$5,787,592.80

* no merit $6,104,577.80*
$6,127,528.51

(-$490,673.49) *Projected
(-$339,935.71) Adopted



8/30/2023 8

FUNDING
Lapse Salaries/Unused Funding

Delayed promotion (FY 25) of Major vacancy $83,448.75 

12 funded Officer and 1 Corporal vacancy for 6 months 
(Jan 1, 2024)

$242,251.77

6 funded Officer and 1 Corporal vacancy for 6 months 
(July 1, 2024)

$132,849.06

Total Lapse Salaries for 12 months (July 1, 2024) $458,549.58

Promotional Assessment for Major $25,000.00

Total Funding $483,549.58



8/30/2023 9

COST PROPOSAL A
FY 24

ADOPTED
All positions funded 
except (20) frozen

PROJECTED DIFFERENCE

Approx. Salaries July 1 - September 30, 2023 $1,446,898.20 $1,264,585.35 +$182,312.85

Approx. Salaries October 1 - December 30, 2023
(Includes 21.55% increase effective October 1 for all sworn 
officers, excluding Chief of Police)*

$1,446,898.20 $1,462,460.13
Vacant: Major, Corporal, (12) Officers

-$15,561.93

Approx. Salaries January 1-June 30, 2024
(Includes 21.55% increase and hiring 6 officers January 1) $2,893,796.40 $3,075,099.26

Vacant: Major, Corporal, (6) Officers
-$181,302.86

Total Approx. Salaries through FY 2024* $5,787,592.80 $5,802,144.74 -$14,551.94

Approx. Benefits July 1 - September 30, 2023 $416,142.79 $341,438.04 +$74,704.74

Approx. Benefits October 1 - December 30, 2023 $416,142.79 $394,864.23
Vacant: Major, Corporal, (12) Officers

+$21,278.55

Approx. Benefits January 1-June 30, 2024 $832,285.58 $830,276.80
Vacant: Major, Corporal, (6) Officers

+$2,008.78

Total Approx. Benefits through FY 2024 
(+27%; Line Items 1810, 1820, 1821, 1822) $1,664,571.16 $1,566,579.07 +$97,992.07

Total Salaries and Benefits $7,452,163.96 $7,368,723.81 +83,440.13



8/30/2023 10

COST PROPOSAL B
FY 24

ADOPTED
All positions funded 
except (20) frozen

PROJECTED DIFFERENCE

Approx. Salaries July 1 - September 30, 2023 $1,446,898.20 $1,264,585.35 +$182,312.85

Approx. Salaries October 1 - December 30, 2023
(Includes 10% increase or minimum of new pay grade effective 
October 1 for all sworn officers, excluding Chief)*

$1,446,898.20 $1,350,156.87
Vacant: Major, Corporal, (12) Officers

+96,741.33

Approx. Salaries January 1-June 30, 2024
(Includes 10% increase or minimum of new pay grade and hiring 
6 officers January 1)

$2,893,796.40 $2,843,342.12
Vacant: Major, Corporal, (6) Officers

+$50,454.28

Total Approx. Salaries through FY 2024* $5,787,592.80 $5,458,084.34 +329,508.46

Approx. Benefits July 1 - September 30, 2023 $416,142.79 $341,438.04 +$74,704.74

Approx. Benefits October 1 - December 30, 2023 $416,142.79 $364,542.35
Vacant: Major, Corporal, (12) Officers

+$51,600.43

Approx. Benefits January 1-June 30, 2024 $832,285.58 $767,702.37
Vacant: Major, Corporal, (6) Officers

+$64,583.21

Total Approx. Benefits through FY 2024 
(+27%; Line Items 1810, 1820, 1821, 1822) $1,664,571.16 $1,473,682.76 +190,888.38

Total Salaries and Benefits $7,452,163.96 $6,931.767.10 +$520,396.84



8/30/2023 11

COST

FY 25 PROPOSAL B ALL FUNDED (except 20 frozen) ADOPTED PROJECTED DIFFERENCE

Total Approx. Salaries through FY 2024 $5,787,592.80 $6,127,528.54 -$339,935.74

Total Approx. Benefits through FY 2024 
(+27%; Line Items 1810, 1820, 1821, 1822) $1,664,571.16 $1,654,432.71 +$10,138.45

Total Salaries and Benefits $7,452,163.96 $7,781,961.25 -$329,797.29

FY 25 PROPOSAL A ALL FUNDED (except 20 frozen) ADOPTED PROJECTED DIFFERENCE

Total Approx. Salaries through FY 2024 $5,787,592.80 $6,626,434.82 -$838,842.02

Total Approx. Benefits through FY 2024 
(+27%; Line Items 1810, 1820, 1821, 1822) $1,664,571.16 $1,789,137.40 -$124,566.24

Total Salaries and Benefits $7,452,163.96 $8,415,572.22 -$963,408.26



8/30/2023 12

QUESTIONS

Thank you for your time.

Chief Michael D. West
mwest@goldsboronc.gov 

Office: 919-580-4231

mailto:mwest@goldsboronc.gov


FIRE DEPARTMENT SALARY PROPOSAL

Ron Stempien, Fire Chief

8/30/2023 1

w.s. item c



8/30/2023 2

Personnel 

 35 personnel have been 
hired since 2019.

 45 personnel have 
resigned/retired since 
2019.

 18 of the 35 personnel 
hired since 2019 have 
resigned.

7

8

6

14

0

11

6

11 11

6

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Hired Resigned



8/30/2023 3

Current Staffing

GFD has 75 Line Personnel Positions
 

8 –  Vacant Firefighter Positions

3 – Frozen Firefighter Positions

64

3

8

Filled Frozen Firefighter Vacant Firefighter



8/30/2023 4

NFPA 1710 Requires a response of 17 personnel for structure fires in single family homes. 

Remaining GFD personnel to cover the rest of the city during fire. 

Current Response Situation



8/30/2023 5

NFPA 1710 Requires a response of 17 personnel for structure fires in single family homes. 

Remaining GFD personnel to cover the rest of the city during fire. 

Ideal Response Situation



8/30/2023 6

Call Volume

Call volume in July has increased by 53% 

January February March April May June July
Total Calls 277 222 229 262 263 277 389
Multi-truck  Fire Calls 81 62 75 89 86 98 101

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450



Importance 
of Quick 
Response 
Times

8/30/2023 7



Effects of Personnel Shortage

8/30/2023 8

• Decrease safety of responders and citizens
• Special teams hindered
• Patient care diminished
• Makes obtaining training requirements more difficult
• Low morale



Hiring Stats for Current Process

8/30/2023 9

9 2

73

Total Applicants: 84

Passed CPAT Passed CPAT (with cert) Dropped Process



Current Pay Scale in Eastern NC

8/30/2023 10

$38,153.00 
$40,000.00 

$41,910.00 $42,000.00 $42,380.00 $42,774.00 $43,500.00 
$45,000.00 

$49,289.00 $49,602.00 $50,814.40 
$52,457.00 

$55,000.00 

$0.00

$10,000.00

$20,000.00

$30,000.00

$40,000.00

$50,000.00

$60,000.00



Proposed Pay Scale Option A
(Certified Firefighters)

8/30/2023 11

$40,000.00 
$41,910.00 $42,000.00 $42,380.00 $42,774.00 $43,301.00 $43,500.00 

$45,000.00 

$49,289.00 $49,602.00 $50,814.40 
$52,457.00 

$55,000.00 

$0.00

$10,000.00

$20,000.00

$30,000.00

$40,000.00

$50,000.00

$60,000.00



Proposed Pay Grade Option A

8/30/2023 12

60

65

70

75

80

85

90

Firefighter
Trainee

Firefighter Senior
Firefighter

Fire Engineer Fire Engineer II Fire Captain Fire Captain II Battalion Chief Assistant Chief Deputy Chief Chief

70
71 71

74 74

78 78

81

85

88
89

73
74

75

77
78

79
80

82

85

88
89

Current Pay Grade Proposed Pay Grade



Pay Increases Option A

8/30/2023 13

10% Raise

0% Raise

5% Raise

11+% Raise

• 54 Personnel will receive a 10% Raise
• This includes Firefighters, Engineers, and Captains.

• 7 Personnel will receive a 5% Raise
• This includes the 3 Battalion Chiefs, 3 Assistant Chiefs, 

and Deputy Chief.

• 5 Personnel will receive no raise
• This includes the Fire Chief, Executive Assistant, 

Administrative Assistant, and part-time personnel.

• 17 Personnel will receive over 10% to bring them up to the 
bottom of their new pay scale.

• This includes 15 firefighter positions and 2 Engineer 
positions.

• This brings the firefighter starting pay to a competitive 
level with surrounding departments.



Cost and Funding Option A

8/30/2023 14

Effective Date Salary 
Increase

Salary 
Increase                     

With Benefits

Lapsed Salaries
(Includes delayed hiring 
of 6 until Dec 27, 2023)

Inspection/Fire 
Alarm Fees

(Full Year Estimate)

October 4, 2023   
(Option A – 1) $290k $369k $131k $57k

December 27, 
2023

(Option A – 2)
$199k $252k $125k $57k

*Full year cost: $397k (without benefits), $504k(with benefits)
*Projected annual Inspection/Fire Alarm revenues: $76k



Proposed Pay Scale Option B
(Certified Firefighters)

8/30/2023 15

$40,000.00 
$41,239.42 $41,910.00 $42,000.00 $42,380.00 $42,774.00 $43,500.00 

$45,000.00 

$49,289.00 $49,602.00 
$50,814.40 

$52,457.00 
$55,000.00 

$0.00

$10,000.00

$20,000.00

$30,000.00

$40,000.00

$50,000.00

$60,000.00

Kinston Goldsboro Smithfield Fayetteville Cleveland Tarboro Wilson Mills Wilson Clayton Garner Cary Apex Rocky Mount



Proposed Pay Grade Option B

8/30/2023 16

60

65

70

75

80

85

90

Firefighter
Trainee

Firefighter Senior
Firefighter

Fire Engineer Fire Engineer II Fire Captain Fire Captain II Battalion Chief Assistant Chief Deputy Chief Chief

70
71 71

74 74

78 78

81

85

88
89

72
73

74

76
77

79
80

82

85

88
89

Current Pay Grade Proposed Pay Grade



Pay Increases Option B

8/30/2023 17

• 61 Personnel will receive a 5% Raise
• This includes Firefighters, Engineers, and Captains,          

3 Battalion Chiefs, 3 Assistant Chiefs, and Deputy Chief.

• 5 Personnel will receive no raise
• This includes the Fire Chief, Executive Assistant, 

Administrative Assistant, and part-time personnel.

• 17 Personnel will receive over 5% to bring them up to the 
bottom of their new pay scale.

• This includes 15 firefighter positions and 2 Engineer 
positions.

• This brings the firefighter starting pay to a competitive 
level with surrounding departments.

5%

6+%

0%



Cost and Funding Option B

8/30/2023 18

Effective Date Salary 
Increase

Salary 
Increase                     

With Benefits

Lapsed Salaries
(Includes delayed hiring 
of 6 until Dec 27, 2023)

Inspection/Fire 
Alarm Fees

(Full Year Estimate)

October 4, 2023  
(Option B – 1) $161k $204k $129k $57k

December 27, 2023
(Option B – 2) $110k $140k $126k $57k

*Full year cost: $220k (without benefits), $279k (with benefits)
*Projected annual Inspection/Fire Alarm revenues: $76k



Thank you

8/30/2023 19



w.s. d





Downtown Goldsboro Master 
Plan  & Ne ighb orhood  Plan  Up d at e

www.go ld sb oronc .go



• IDENTIFY MAJOR NEEDS

• PRIORITIZE FUNDING + INVESTMENT

• PRIORITIZE PROJECTS

• ALIGN EFFORTS + ENCOURAGE COHESION

• CREATE A ROADMAP FOR GROWTH

Why Is 
Planning 
Necessary?
Downtowns require focused resources and strategic 
planning to encourage growth and investment. 
Economic growth benefits the greater community. 



Timeline
2 0 0 6 2 0 0 7 2 0 13

Downtown Goldsboro 
Neighborhood 
Revitalizat ion Plan 
Completed and 
Adopted

Downtown Goldsboro 
Master Plan Created 
& Adopted

First  TIGER Grant  
Awarded = $10 M for 
Major Streetscape 
Improvements from 
Master Plan -
Completed in 20 15

2 0 16

Second TIGER Grant  
Awarded = $5M for 
Addit ional 
Improvements from 
Master Plan -
Completed in 20 20

2 0 12

First  phase of Center 
Street  Streetscape 
completed by City for 
$2.3M, guided by 
Master Plan



Neighborhood 
Plan  : Key 
Priorities

TEAM MEMBERS (AS DIRECTED BY COUNCIL)

HOW?

• Acquire propert ies as  needed.
• Stabilize, Market & Sell homes 

with covenants
• Create a Revolving/Stabilizat ion 

Fund
• Prepare for Infill Development

City Manager
Assistant City Manager
Police Chief
City Attorney
Finance Director

Chief Inspector
Planning Director
Downtown Development Director

• Restore Historic Neighborhoods
• Restore Historic Homes for Single-Family, 

Owner-Occupied Use
• Create Infill Development for Affordable 

Housing that Compliments Historic Nature of 
Neighborhoods

• Generate Private Investment
• Prepare for Growth from Raleigh & Union 

Stat ion Development

• Create a Substant ial and Sustaining Future 
for Commercial Growth

• Strengthen the Tax Base
• Reduce Crime
• Preserve Historic Propert ies and Utilize 

Uniqueness to Provide a Diverse 
Neighborhood

• Meet future housing needs of SJAFB



Depot District  
Neighborhood

Borders:
Carolina Street  to 
George Street ;
Ash Street  to 
Chestnut  Street



North George & 
James Street  
Neighborhood

Borders:
George Street  to 
James Street ;
Vine Street  to Ash 
Street  (North of Ash)



South John & 
William Street  
Neighborhood

Borders:
John Street  to 
William Street ;
Spruce Street  to 
Elm Street  



• STREETSCAPE • STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT • RESIDENTIAL

Ident ify catalyst  projects in key 
locat ions to spur private 
investment. Create connect ivity 
with key anchors - Paramount, 
Union Stat ion.

Revitalizat ion of the surrounding 
resident ial neighborhoods 
ident ified as an essent ial element 
of downtown revitalizat ion.
Promote mixed-income & mixed-
density infill. 

Ident ify key Streetscape projects 
to spur future development, 
private investment and growth.
Promote pedestrian experience. 
Improve entry cooridors.

Master Plan: 
Key Priorities



8 0 19 3
4 9 1

$ 4 4 M

Net New
Businesses

Commercial 
Property Renos

Net Jobs
Created

Private Investment

Economic Impact  Sta t ist ics
(since 20 13)

$ 3 5 M
Public Investment

5 :1
Return on City 

Investment



Center Street Streetscape - Phase 1
10 0 % City Funded

Completed Project s

Center Street  Streetscape - Phase 2
TIGER Award - 75% Federal, 25% City



Completed Project s

GWTA New Facility Construct ion
Funded by 20 13 TIGER Grant  - 75% 
Federal funded

Goldsboro Union Stat ion Site Work
Funded by 20 13 TIGER Grant  - 75% 
Federal funded



Completed Project s

Center Street Streetscape Phase 3 
Funded by 20 16 TIGER Grant  - 75% 
Federal funded

HUB Project
Funded by 20 16 TIGER Grant  - 75% 
Federal funded



Completed Project s

Wayfinding Signage
Funded by 20 16 TIGER Grant  - 75% 
Federal funded

• Gre a t  Am e rican  Ma in  
St re e t  Award

• Go ld sb o ro  Un io n  
St a t io n  Re use  St ud y 
(20 20 )

• Art s  Dis t ric t  Fe as ib ilit y 
St ud y (20 22)

Other 



Promote mixed-density infill on 
the 30 0  and 40 0  blocks of South 
Center St . 

• RESIDENTIAL 

What 's Next?

• STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT

Create connect ivity with key 
historical asset  & anchor - 
Goldsboro Union Stat ion. Stabilize 
and spur further investment . 



Strategic 
Residential 
Development

• Revitalizat ion of the surrounding resident ial 
neighborhoods. 

• Promote mixed-income and scaled development . 
• Encourage historic preservat ion as an economic 

development  tool.



1 of 16 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE GOLDSBORO CITY COUNCIL 
AUGUST 21, 2023 

WORK SESSION 

The City Council of the City of Goldsboro, North Carolina, met in a Work Session in the Large Conference Room, 
City Hall Addition, 200 North Center Street, at 5:00 p.m. on August 21, 2023.   

Call to Order.  Mayor Ham called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. 

Roll Call.  
Present: Mayor David Ham, Presiding 

Mayor Pro Tem Brandi Matthews 
Councilwoman Hiawatha Jones 
Councilman Bill Broadaway 
Councilman Charles Gaylor, IV 
Councilman Greg Batts 

Also Present: Tim Salmon, City Manager 
Matt Livingston, Assistant City Manager 
Ron Lawrence, City Attorney  
Laura Getz, City Clerk  

 Adoption of the Agenda. Upon motion of Councilman Broadaway, seconded by Councilwoman Jones, and 
unanimously carried, Council adopted the agenda.  

Old Business. 
NC Freedom Fest Update. Councilman Gaylor made a motion to amend the agenda and move item 3a to 

Presentations during the 7:00 p.m. meeting. The motion was seconded by Councilman Broadaway and unanimously carried. 

Workers’ Compensation Coverage Exemption Certification Form. City Manager Salmon presented the item. 

NCGS Chapter 97 Workers’ Compensation Act requires contractors with three (3) or more employees to have workers’ 
compensation insurance. It is presumed the risk with less employees does not necessitate this insurance for most 
organizations.  

At the Council meeting on December 19, 2022, Council denied a request from City staff that workers’ compensation not be 
required for the Parks and Recreation sports booking agent and officials.  

Some department heads have asked for the workers’ compensation restrictions to be waived in some “low risk” situations to 
contract with small business owners or independent contractors who do quality work at an affordable price with one or two 
employees (e.g. public speakers, IT support, sports officials). The current workers’ compensation restrictions will be very 
difficult to sustain with Parks and Recreation personnel working overtime as sports officials.  

A City Workers’ Compensation Coverage Exemption Certification Form was developed for Council consideration to enable 
the City manager on a case-by-case basis to waive the workers’ compensation requirement when the benefit outweighs the 
risk and potential cost. 

It was recommended Council concurs that a resolution be developed for approval at the September 5, 2023, meeting 
authorizing the City manager to waive the workers' compensation insurance requirement on a case-by-case basis for those 
who certify it is not required by NCGS via the Workers’ Compensation Coverage Exemption Certification Form. 

City Manager Salmon shared he has spoken to the city attorney and the city attorney wants to make sure everybody has 
workers compensation coverage.  

Council gave consensus to bring a resolution to the September 5, 2023 meeting for approval. 

New Business. 
NPO Funding Update FY22-23. The following NPO’s presented information to Council regarding their programs. 

Handouts provided by the organizations are attached as Exhibit A.  

NPO FY 22-23 Funding Update 
1. Boys & Girls Clubs   -------------------------------- $ 13,533
2. Communities Supporting Schools of WC ------- $ 13,033
3. HGDC Community Crisis Center ------------------ $ 7,086
4. Literacy Connections   ------------------------------- $ 9,601
5. Passionate Beginnings Resource Center -----------$ 3,898

Item A



2 of 16 
 

6. WAGES -----------------------------------------------$ 10,148 
7. WATCH -----------------------------------------------$ 14,981 
8. Wayne County Museum ---------------------------- $ 13,783 
9. WISH --------------------------------------------------$ 11,518 
 

Ms. Passion Smith submittted the following presentation: 

 

 
 

 

Postpartum Support:
Passionate Beginnings Resource Center was able to
provide postpartum support to 4 clients within the last
year.

Services include:
● Meal preparation
● Light cleaning
● Sibling care
● Infant care



3 of 16 
 

 
 

Goldsboro Police Department Pay Discussion. Mike West, Police Chief shared the following presentation:  
 

 

 

 

 

 

GOLDSBORO POLICE DEPARTMENT

Michael D. West, Chief of Police

August 21, 2023



4 of 16 
 

Mayor Ham discussed the request for salary increases for the Police Department.  
 
City Manager Salmon shared you shouldn’t go to Fund Balance for a recurring expense like salaries and benefits. He stated 
if the Council goes into Fund Balance, the next Council will have to increase the tax rate by three cents to cover this bill 
next year unless they freeze more positions.  
 
Council discussed the presentation and police salaries with Chief West and  City Manager Salmon. Staff will run the 
numbers in the presentation to have the funding start earlier than January 1. Council expressed their concern regarding 
crime and their support to fund the Police Department. 
 
Council concurred to defer the item until the September 5th meeting after the audit is submitted.   
 

Goldsboro Fire Department Pay Discussion. Ron Stempien, Fire Chief shared the following presentation:   
 

 

 

 

 

 

FIRE DEPARTMENT SALARY PROPOSAL

Ron Stempien, Fire Chief

August 21, 2023

8/22/2023 1



5 of 16 
 

 
 

 
 
Council and City Manager Salmon discussed the presentation with Chief Stempien.  
 
Council concurred to defer the item until the September 5th meeting after the audit is submitted.   
 

Mayor Ham recessed the meeting at 6:55 p.m. 
 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
 
The City Council of the City of Goldsboro, North Carolina, met in Regular Session in Council Chambers, City Hall, 

214 North Center Street, at 7:00 p.m. on August 21, 2023. 
 
Mayor Ham called the meeting to order at 7:03 p.m. 
 
Councilwoman Hiawatha Jones provided the invocation.  The Pledge of Allegiance followed. 
 

Roll Call.   
Present:  Mayor David Ham, Presiding 

Mayor Pro Tem Brandi Matthews 
Councilwoman Hiawatha Jones 
Councilman Bill Broadaway 
Councilman Charles Gaylor, IV 

   Councilman Greg Batts 
 
Also Present: Tim Salmon, City Manager 

Matt Livingston, Assistant City Manager 
Ron Lawrence, City Attorney  
Laura Getz, City Clerk  

 
Approval of Minutes.  Councilman Broadaway made a motion to approve the minutes of the Work Session and 

Regular Meeting of August 7, 2023.  The motion was seconded by Councilwoman Jones and unanimously carried.   
 
New Business.  The following item was carried over from the work session due to time running out.  
 
Consolidating Certain City Departments Under a Development Services Model. The item was presented by 

Assistant City Manager Livingston. 
 

In years past, the City Planning, Inspections, Community Development, and Engineering departments were under a 
Development Services Department which effectively served the citizens of Goldsboro and the region in general.   

 
City Management believes now is the opportune time to move back to a Development Services Department.  Over the next 
few months, critical openings with the City will need to be filled such as the Director of Engineering and Assistant Planning 
Director.  Staff have carefully studied the Development Services model in other similar sized cities such as New Bern to 
better understand their effectiveness.      



6 of 16 
 

There are several advantages to the unified development services model.  Notably, the Development Services Director will 
be responsible for the oversight and integration of all development related activities.  The Development Servies Director 
along with his or her team will be responsible for streamlining and improving development service-related activities, goals, 
objectives, and priorities as set by City management and the City Council. 

 
Implementing a Development Service Model can initially be done rather seamlessly.  Our plan is to re-classify the Director 
of Engineering position to that of Development Services Director.  Filling this position will be challenging.  Specifically, 
the City seeks to recruit an individual with several years of management experience that has a solid understanding of 
Planning, Community Development, Engineering, and Inspections departments.   

   
This item is presented as information only; however, City management welcomes any questions, comments, or concerns 
that Council may have on the proposed way ahead.   
 
Council discussed the presentation. Assistant City Manager Livingston will keep Council updated regarding how the model 
progresses.  

 
Resolution Commending and Expressing Appreciation to Taj Polack for Serving on the Goldsboro City 

Council for More Than Three Years. Resolution Adopted. Taj Polack has served this community and the City of 
Goldsboro in numerous capacities, including three and a half years as a member of the Goldsboro City Council representing 
District Three and 21 Months as Mayor Pro Tem, since December 2019. These years of service have been marked by 
exemplary dedication to the best interests of the community as he has worked constantly for the betterment of its economic, 
cultural, and aesthetic development. During these years of service, Councilman Polack has gained the admiration and 
respect of local officials and citizens for his untiring efforts in improving the lives of citizens in District Three. During his 
term in office, Councilman Polack has served as a member of the Law and Finance Committee and Military Liaison 
Committee, and as Ex-Officio member on the Historic District Commission and Parks & Recreation Advisory Commission. 
Many projects have commenced and been completed by the City during Councilman Polack’s years of service, including 
construction of the Center Street Streetscape Project-Phase III, the HUB, Safety Complex, renovation of Fire Station 4, 
sewer rehabilitation, and street resurfacing throughout the city.  

 
The Mayor and City Council expressed to Taj Polack, on behalf of themselves, city employees, and the citizens of the City 
of Goldsboro, their appreciation and gratitude for his unselfish, devoted, and invaluable service and contributions rendered 
to the Council and the City of Goldsboro in the many capacities in which he has served and offers our very best wishes for 
success, happiness, prosperity, and good health in his future endeavors.   

 
This Resolution shall be incorporated into the official Minutes of the City of Goldsboro, and shall be in full force and effect 
from and after this 21st day of August, 2023.   

 
Councilman Batts made a motion to adopt the resolution. The motion was seconded by Councilwoman Jones and 

unanimously carried.  
 

RESOLUTION 2023-54 “RESOLUTION COMMENDING AND EXPRESSING APPRECIATION TO TAJ POLACK FOR 
SERVING ON THE GOLDSBORO CITY COUNCIL FOR MORE THAN THREE YEARS” 

 
International Overdose Awareness Day Proclamation. Read by Mayor Ham: the Goldsboro City Council 

proclaimed the 31st of August as INTERNATIONAL OVERDOSE AWARENESS DAY and called upon our community 
to observe this day with compelling programs and events that support this year’s observance. 
 
The proclamation was presented to Ms. Michele Bass. Ms. Bass, CALM Chair, shared information regarding CALM and 
invited everyone to an Overdose Awareness event on August 31, 2023 at 11:00 am at the HUB downtown.  

 
 NC Freedom Fest Update. Doug McGrath shared the following presentation: 
 

 

Military & 1st Responders
Apprecia�on Fes�val



7 of 16 
 

 

 

 

 
 
Mayor Ham thanked Mr. McGrath and discussed Freedom Fest. 
 

Public Hearings.  
SU-5-23 Cemetery – T-intersection of Herbert St. and S. John St. ext. Public Hearing Held and Findings 

Adopted. The item was presented by Kenny Talton, Planning Director. 
 
Kenny Talton, Planning Director stated the following: if you recall, at our July 17th meeting this item, Special Use Permit 
for proposed private cemetery off of South John Street here in Goldsboro was continued until tonight's meeting. The 
applicant requested additional time to gather some information so that he can produce that information and add it as 
evidence for this hearing in order for you to make your decision. 
 
Mr. Talton presented the following:   

 
ADDRESS: (TBD) 
PARCEL #: 2598792758 
OWNER: Goldsby Memorial Gardens Inc. 
APPLICANT: Timothy Goldsby 

 
The applicant requests a Special Use Permit for the establishment of a private cemetery located in the General Industry (I-2) 
Zoning District. The General Industry Zoning district is established to accommodate the widest range of manufacturing, 
wholesale, and distribution uses. 
 



8 of 16 
 

Mr. Talton shared a map and stated the following: a zoning of the property shown as industrial with adjacent properties 
across the street as residential to the East and to the West, General Industry. 
 
According to the City’s Unified Development Code, a cemetery is a permitted use in the General Industry Zoning District 
only after obtaining a Special Use Permit from Goldsboro City Council. In addition, the following are approval criteria for 
the proposed use: 
 

1. Chapels, mortuaries, mausoleums, administrative offices, and maintenance buildings may be developed within the 
cemetery. Access to all buildings shall be from within the cemetery. The minimum setback for all structures, 
excluding gatehouses is one hundred feet from any exterior property line. Gatehouses are excluded from any 
minimum setback. 

2. The minimum setback for any grave or burial plot is fifty feet from any exterior property line, except that any grave 
or burial plot shall be allowed within three feet of a property line of an abutting parcel containing an existing 
cemetery.  

3. Where a cemetery abuts a residentially developed or zoned property, it shall be screened in accordance with Section 
6.3 (Landscaping, Screening, and Buffering Standards). 

 
Zoning:  General Industry (I-2) 
Floodplain: 100-year 
 
Existing Use:  Vacant woodland. 
Acres:  2.9 
 
Land Use Plan: The City’s Land Use Plan locates this parcel within the Industrial land use designation. The City of 
Goldsboro Comprehensive Land Use Plan emphasizes that the purpose of this sector is to establish and protect industrial 
areas for the use of prime industrial operations and for the distribution of products at wholesale. The General Industry (I-2) 
Zoning District is a corresponding district in the Industrial land use designation. 
 
According to the applicant’s submitted site plan, the proposed cemetery will consist of a total of 2,250 grave sites.  
 
Hours of Operation/Days:  24 hours/7days a week 
Employees: 1 
 
TRC REVIEW: City Engineering was asked to review and provide comment since the location of the proposed cemetery 
was in the 100-year floodplain. In addition, the applicant was requested to provide additional information for how the 
impacts of potential flooding in a private cemetery could be mitigated.  
 
Mr. Talton stated the following: During the TRC review period, both Planning and Engineering Departments had concerns 
over the proposed use and its location being in the 100-year floodplain. The applicant has also been requested to provide 
additional information for how flood impacts can be addressed with this specific use. 
 
If the Special Use Permit is approved, a TRC review will be conducted, and site plan approval will be required.  In addition 
to permit approval requirements, compliance with the City’s Unified Development Ordinance will be necessary in order to 
operate the private cemetery. 
 
Mr. Talton stated the following: Staff is recommending that if this permit is approved, the following conditions in order to 
mitigate potential flood impacts to the use. This condition has been recommended due to what has happened in previous 
flooding events. Staff is recommending that each gravesite is required to have an engineer certification for the site 
(certifying coffins will not float, and other information deemed necessary by the Goldsboro Floodplain Administrator). 
  
On July 17, 2023, Planning staff presented City Council with a report and power point presentation in regard to SU-13-23.  
Staff recommended that for each grave site, an engineered certification would be necessary to ensure that coffins will not 
float. 
 
Afterwards, the Mayor opened the public hearing.   
 
The applicant, Timothy Goldsby, requested that Council continue the public hearing to August 21, 2023, in order to allow 
him time to gather additional information necessary for Council to make a decision on this request.  
 
Council voted to continue the public hearing to August 21, 2023.  
 
After Public Hearing is closed, City Council shall enter into deliberation and vote on each of the four findings in order to 
determine whether or not the Special Use Permit shall be issued. The worksheet for the four findings to be voted on and 
staffs comments related to each finding was submitted as part of the agenda packet.  Council does have the ability to 
continue the hearing or place conditions upon its approval as long as Council is able to conclude that evidence exists in the 
record to support the condition. 
 



9 of 16 
 

Mr. Talton stated the following: Mayor, I’ll give this presentation back to you for continuing the public hearing. At this 
point in time, during this public hearing, any testimony, evidence, it would be used as evidence, just like this staff report is 
being admitted as evidence for you to use to make your decision through this process. I'll refer you back to the worksheet 
and again if you were to vote in the affirmative answering each one of these questions and you can issue the permit if you 
do not feel like any one of these standards can be answered in the affirmative, you have that right to deny the permit but 
again it's based off of the evidence presented. 
 
Mayor Ham stated the following (from the slide labeled TRC Comments): from the second sentence, this applicant has been 
requested to provide additional information for how flood impacts can be addressed. Has the applicant provided that 
information?  
 
Mr. Talton stated the following: he cannot provide that until he does so at this meeting. This is the only place he can present 
evidence for discussion by Council.  
 
Mayor Ham stated the following (based on the Staff Evaluation slide): if the Council should approve this, you would require 
those provisions to be met? 
 
Mr. Talton stated the following: that is correct. In addition to that we would require floodplain development permit for each 
grave as well, certifying that it meets the floodplain development regulations for the City of Goldsboro, if the Council 
approves.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Matthews stated the following: Is that a standard request? 
 
Mr. Talton stated the following: Yes, any development in our floodplain has to go through that process.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Matthews stated the following: What is the time frame? When you dig a grave, presumably, somebody’s 
getting ready to go in it.  
 
Mr. Taton stated he was not able to answer the question.  
 
Councilman Gaylor stated the following: One of our concerns is we don't want to repeat what happened in some major 
floods where there were literally caskets popping out of the ground. The physics of that, those were older caskets that still 
had some buoyancy to them. Were any of them to the best of our collective memory here (not trying to put anyone on the 
spot for 100% information) but were any of those modern caskets with concrete blocks around them?  
 
Mr. Talton stated the following: I can't answer for certain on that but just speaking from experience with previous 
employments, and managing of cemeteries, I can assure you that more than likely that a lot of those caskets probably were 
not in a vault per se and that's what probably contributed to those coffins floating. I feel confident but due to the age of those 
grave sites. 
 
Councilman Gaylor stated the following: So, it’s worth asking about modern standards. 
 
Councilwoman Jones stated the following: I have some concern. I was here when the caskets were floating on 117 and 
while I don't think that they were in the concrete, with the amount of flooding and the water that we had, it still broke down 
that concrete and I have some concerns about that and also concerns about the sanitary issue when a casket is floating or 
whenever it pops up.  
 
Mr. Talton stated the following: I certainly understand those concerns and again I would defer those to any testimony by the 
applicant or anybody else that may be available for expert testimony. 
 
Councilman Broadaway stated the following: I rode by this today and looked at that area.  I remember water being both of 
those water high but the other thing I considered are all those homeowners sitting up on that hill and down on the East side 
of the road. I mean that's a development. I've heard nothing from those homeowners. But if I had a home in that area, I 
would be very concerned about constructing a cemetery in a known flood zone. I don't know how you can engineer 3 feet of 
water. 
 
Councilwoman Jones asked if the homeowners have been notified.  
 
Mr. Talton stated the following:  There's been a sign posted saying that was special proceeding for this particular piece of 
property.  
 
Planning staff shared that there were notices sent to adjacent property owners within 100 feet.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Matthews stated the following: If Mr. Goldsby can meet the staff’s recommendation, and I don't know if he 
can make a certainty, but he can follow the procedure and ensure that he does that, then we really have no major other cause 
for concern, right.  So, what I'm saying is if he can dig these graves and put these coffins in what the requirement is, that 
will stand up against flood water, then we really have no other concern outside of just, what? If he can meet it, then do we 
really have a cause for concern if we can ensure that the graves stay in the ground during flooding? 



10 of 16 
 

Mr. Talton stated the following: I can’t answer that, all I can do is provide you with information. Staff’s recommendation 
what we believe that would help to mitigate that flooding hazard. Outside of that, you'll just have to take the information 
that's been submitted at this public hearing to make your decision.  
 

Mayor Ham opened the Public Hearing. The following people spoke after being properly sworn in: 

1. Austin Brinkley stated the following: Just to give you my expert testimony and opinion on this, to answer your 
question first and foremost, no, I don't think there would be any other adverse impact that could be expected if 
they meet these requirements. That recommendation ideally whoever is the manager of this cemetery would 
need to come in with engineered plans to get pre approval on a flood permit prior to anybody being buried. As 
you know, death is unexpected. Whenever somebody dies it's time for them to be buried you don't have time to 
go through the permitting process. If they go ahead and come in with engineered design for say 30 grave sites, 
he's got approval for 30 graves that can show the engineer has certified that the caskets are designed and to be 
buried in a manner that they will not float. Similar to a situation where you may have a pool that is in a flood 
zone. An engineer is going to certify that the pool is not going to float in a severe flood event. When you're 
looking at this site and looking at potentially what is going to be put in it with engineer certification, I don't 
think anymore significant threat would be presented just based off of the general threat that comes in a severe 
flood event and all the other factors you have in place that are going to be a threat to life or safety. So, that is 
my opinion as to why I think these conditions, if required, would present a situation where it could be managed 
in the best way possible moving forward.  
 
Councilwoman Jones stated the following: So, are you saying that he has this? 
 
Mr. Brinkley stated the following: He doesn't have any engineered certification or he doesn't have any kind of 
engineered plans as of now. He would have to have that and get those approvals in place prior to burying a body 
out there or having an above ground mausoleum type of structure in the flood zone. All structures in the flood 
zone require a flood permit. It's just certain types of structures are going to require more stringent requirements 
like elevation certificates for some or you know based on your proximity to the floodway, you'd have to go into 
getting the engineer certification at that point.  
 
Mayor Ham stated the following: You gave up a hypothetical approval of or submission of 30 plots, but what 
about the other 1,900 or so. 
 
Mr. Brinkley stated the following: It really depends on how far ahead he wants to work on it. I can imagine an 
engineering bill for 1,900 grave sites might be quite pricey. Starting off with 100 engineering approvals on 
caskets, there wouldn't be any requirement as to how progressively he has to get them, that would just be what 
my recommendation is, to verify you've got the certification in place, there's been a flood permit reviewed and 
issued by the City and you know that the cemetery manager is burying a body that does have a form of 
professional certification on it as to not float.  
 
Councilman Broadaway stated the following: Who is going to determine whether he has that certification? 
 
Mr. Brinkley stated the following: That's going to be on the floodplain administrator for the City. They're going 
to have to review documents provided by whoever his engineer is and issue a flood permit based off of that. 
 
Councilman Broadaway stated the following: For each block or whatever it is. Is that correct? 
 
Mr. Brinkley stated the following: Yes, that’s correct. That's the only way to ensure that everything being 
placed within the flood zone has documentation and engineer design to certify that it won't float. I’m not saying 
that it couldn't possibly happen, engineer certification you know it's a good safeguarding practice but in an 
extreme event you don't know what will happen. 
 
Timothy Goldsby stated the following: I would first address some of the things that I've heard you all say before 
I present anything much. I was also one of the people that helped work down at Elmwood Cemetery when those 
vaults did come up, so that is something that I take deeply into consideration as well, the homeowners down 
there. Who wants something in their neighborhood that could bring such a hazard or even look a certain type of 
way. So, my ultimate goal in all of this is to have a cemetery down there, but not your average privately owned, 
unkept cemetery. I'm born and raised in Goldsboro. I take pride in everything that I do so one of the features 
with this cemetery is to have at least an 8-foot gated area all the way around it. The cemetery will be enclosed 
so if by happenstance that situation was to incur, the homeowners wouldn't be affected. Anything that floats up 
would be contained inside the cemetery. Now as far as the flooding and water, nothing wreaks havoc more than 
water. Water can take down anything at anytime if it's enough of it that sits long enough. Now what I have 
done, we've had some heavy rains over the past few weeks, flash flooding and even all of that. So, what I have 
done is gone down to the area after these rains and just to get a feel of the water table in those areas. There was 
no standing water. The only issue as far as standing water down there was in what would be the ditch area that 
needs to be cleaned out and make sure that that system is flowing properly. As far as on the property itself, there 
was no standing water. I did take a 4-and-a-half-foot probe in different areas of the acreage and it was fine. I 
believe the water table in that area is fine as far as burying graves. I did take a lot of research and study and 



11 of 16 
 

basis of even put one cemetery in that area off from Elmwood Cemetery. What I did find, there was an article 
and I knew Mr. Timothy Irving personally when I worked at Haskins Funeral Home. He was at that time the 
overseer of the city’s cemeteries. In that article, he did state that all of those vaults that did come up during that 
time and the 2 that came up during Floyd. I think the first time it was like 36 and I think the second time only 2 
came up. These were surface burials. This is when the casket is in the vault and the top of the vault is not buried 
underground, the top of the vault is exposed to the surface so during the flood time, it is easy for the dirt to 
erode around the vault, it shifts. So, once it shifts and it loosens over 12 hours, or however long it’s sitting under 
water, yes it's more than likely going to come up. That's why they outlawed the surface burials and you still see 
it see it in Louisiana and New Hampshire and other places where they still have this problem during severe 
weather because they haven't outlawed surface burials but that that should not be an issue here because we are 
required by law to bury 18 inches under the ground and because this property does sit in a flood area, a part of 
my plan is to bury 24 inches under the ground, so that's an additional 6 inches below what the law requires. No 
matter where you bury or how you bury, it's all about how you bury. I said if you don't seal it with dirt where 
there's no pockets around the vault, that's how you, if you ever been to a cemetery you'll see in corners of some 
of the burial grounds, the ground has fallen, has already given way and that's not in a flood zone that's because 
the vault wasn’t packed well when it went into the ground. I do have years of experience. I know how to dig 
graves; I know how to close a grave. I know what it takes to keep the ground in the ground and for the ground 
to look good. As far as a vault coming out of the ground once it is buried properly, it's virtually impossible. You 
could have a sea over the graveyard, if that vault is buried underneath and it's buried properly, it won't surface. 
We see that now; I mean we still bury at Elmwood and the graves are not coming up at Elmwood. It's all about 
the vault being in the ground and it’s all about it being buried properly. 
 
Councilman Jones comments:  So, you have that in your plan that you're going to do 20 inches instead of 18. 
 
Timothy Goldsby stated the following: 24 
 
Councilman Gaylor’s comments: I have no issue with your plan by the way I'm just curious about the process 
and the future planning. In a privately owned cemetery what happens if you, or whoever is next in line in your 
business is unable to continue the business. Who becomes responsible? 
 
Timothy Goldsby stated the following: The city. Any privately owned cemetery, it should be passed down 
through family so to speak or have someone in line to manage it. If that falls through that would be a 
requirement that falls upon the city to handle but that’s not an issue, I have 4 sons. 

No one else spoke and the Public Hearing was closed. 

After the Public Hearing was closed, City Council entered into deliberation and voted on each of the four findings in order 
to determine whether or not the Special Use Permit should be issued.  

1. Mayor Pro Tem Matthews made a motion that the use will not materially endanger the public health or safety. The 
motion was seconded by Councilman Batts. Mayor Ham, Mayor Pro Tem Matthews, Councilwoman Jones, 
Councilman Gaylor and Councilman Batts voted for the motion. Councilman Broadaway voted against the motion. 
The motion passed 5:1.   

2. Mayor Pro Tem Matthews made a motion that the use will not substantially injure the beneficial use of adjoining or 
abutting property. The motion was seconded by Councilman Batts. Mayor Ham, Mayor Pro Tem Matthews, 
Councilwoman Jones, Councilman Gaylor and Councilman Batts voted for the motion. Councilman Broadaway 
voted against the motion. The motion passed 5:1.   

3. Mayor Pro Tem Matthews made a motion that the use will be in harmony with existing development and uses within 
the area in which it is located. The motion was seconded by Councilman Batts. Mayor Pro Tem Matthews, 
Councilwoman Jones, Councilman Gaylor and Councilman Batts voted for the motion. Mayor Ham and Councilman 
Broadaway voted against the motion. The motion passed 4:2.   

4. Mayor Pro Tem Matthews made a motion that the use will be in general conformity with the City of Goldsboro 
Comprehensive Use Plan. The motion was seconded by Councilman Batts. Mayor Pro Tem Matthews, 
Councilwoman Jones, Councilman Gaylor and Councilman Batts voted for the motion. Mayor Ham and Councilman 
Broadaway voted against the motion. The motion passed 4:2.   

 
Councilwoman Jones made a motion to include the following conditions as a requirement for the Special Use Permit: 
Planning staff is recommending that for each grave site, an engineered certification will be necessary to ensure that coffins 
will not float.  In addition, a floodplain development permit will be required and approved by City Engineering before any 
grave site can be utilized. The motion was seconded by Councilman Gaylor and unanimously carried.  

 
SU-13-23 Special Event Venue (POE/No ABC)– South of US 70W between Hargrove St. and Claridge Nursery 

Rd. Public Hearing continued to September 18, 2023.  The item was presented by Kenny Talton, Planning Director after 
being properly sworn in.  
 

ADDRESS: 1316 W. Grantham St., Unit A & B 
  PARCEL #:  2690228003 



12 of 16 
 

   PROPERTY OWNER: Woodmont Goldsboro, LLC. 
  APPLICANT: Heather Giddens 
 
The applicant requests a Special Use Permit for the establishment of special event venues to include weddings, special 
events, birthday parties, anniversaries, etc.  
 
The proposed Place of Entertainment without ABC permit is located in the Shopping Center Zoning District. The Shopping 
Center Zoning District is established to provide for a mix of office, retail, and service establishments in one development.   
 
The district is intended to promote high quality, unified and accessible developments serving the needs of the community 
and surrounding area. 
 
According to the City’s Unified Development Code, Places of Entertainment w/no ABC are permitted only after obtaining a 
Special Use Permit from Goldsboro City Council. In addition, the following are approval criteria for the proposed use: 
 

1. Upon a finding that there has been an increase in the volume, intensity or frequency of the use or a use different 
than set forth in the special use permit, the reviewing authority after a public hearing may modify, suspend or 
revoke the special use permit.  

2. Six copies of the floor plan, drawn to scale, shall be submitted indicating the proposed uses within the structure 
including the location and number of all games and amusements.  

3. A satisfactory statement setting forth the method and frequency of litter collection and disposal shall be submitted 
with the site plan. 

 
Frontage:  Approx. 40 ft. 
Zoning:     Shopping Center 
 
Mr. Talton shared a map and stated the adjacent properties to the West and East are General Business; to the South is Office 
and Institutional.  
 
Existing Use:  The property currently consists of a commercial structure with individual tenant spaces occupied for 
business.  The tenant spaces proposed for use as a special event venue were formerly occupied as a bingo hall. 
 
Land Use Plan Recommendation: The City’s Land Use Plan locates this parcel within the Commercial land use designation. 
The Shopping Center Zoning District is a corresponding district for the Commercial land use designation. 
 
The proposed Place of Entertainment with no ABC permit will provide two large assembly areas, restrooms and storage 
area for customers of the facility.  Occupancy of the facility will be determined by Goldsboro’s Chief Building Inspector in 
accordance with the North Carolina State Building Code. 
 
Hours of Operation 

• Monday-Sunday: 12:00 PM – 10:00 PM 
 
Employees: TBD 
 
Due to the nature of this proposal, TRC was not required to review. If the Special Use Permit is approved, a building permit 
and final inspection will be required for the upfit of the existing tenant space to ensure that all life and safety codes have 
been satisfied before occupancy of the facility. 
 
Mr. Talton stated because the applicant is not here, if you have enough evidence, presented before you tonight, including the 
staff report, and any other public testimony, you are able to make a decision. If you decide whether or not you would like to 
make that decision, using the worksheets in the affirmative, you can either approve or deny the permit.    
 
Council shall now close the Public Hearing, enter deliberation, and vote on each of the four findings in order to determine 
whether or not the Special Use Permit shall be issued. The worksheet for the four findings to be voted on and staffs 
comments related to each finding was submitted as part of the agenda packet. Council does have the ability to continue the 
hearing or place conditions upon its approval as long as Council is able to conclude that evidence exists in the record to 
support the condition.  The Mayor of Goldsboro shall sign the Order to Approve or Deny, that reflects the results of the 
hearing and deliberation at the August 21, 2023, City Council meeting. 
 

Mayor Ham opened the Public Hearing. No one spoke and the Public Hearing was closed. 

After the Public Hearing was closed, City Council entered into deliberation and voted on each of the four findings in order 
to determine whether or not the Special Use Permit should be issued.  

Mayor Ham read the first motion. Councilman Gaylor stated the following: How would we know? There's nothing in front 
of us. I don't feel comfortable voting in favor of anything.  

Mr. Talton stated the following: we based that off of the information presented to us on the application in conversation with 
the applicant. We don't have any reason at this point in time to believe that there's anything that would be of concern with 



13 of 16 
 

this proposed use. You do however, have that ability to continue the hearing if you would like or to place conditions on this 
matter subject to your approval.  

Councilman Gaylor stated the following: it’s in an existing shopping center, right? And I believe it's no ABC permit.  

Mr. Talton stated, that's correct.  

Mayor Ham began to restate the motion or asked if someone wanted to make a motion that we continue until we have more 
information.  

Councilman Batts made a motion that it be continued. The motion was seconded by Councilwoman Jones. The motion was 
amended to continue the item to September 18. The motion was seconded by Councilman Broadaway.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Matthews stated the following: is there something specific that the board is looking for? I understand it was 
already a place of entertainment; a bingo hall. It's already kind of set up for entertainment, event center, parties, weddings.  
So, what else are you needing so that when the applicant comes, they'll be prepared for that? 
 
Councilman Gaylor stated the following: I would just opine that everything that you just said is a best guess. What is the 
intended use?  It’s events, but do we have its plan specific? Being set up for bingo is not really the same as being set up for 
afterhours parties. I realize there is no ABC permits so the risk is pretty low here and it's in a shopping center and again I'm 
not trying to be overly strict on this, but there are other tenants there who are in that shopping center who are relying on us 
to do a little bit of due diligence, and I just want to try and be responsible.  
 
Mr. Talton stated the following: we have to rely on the information that was submitted on the application as well and again 
it was for the establishment of a special event venue to include weddings, birthday parties, anniversaries, etc.  
 
Mayor Ham, Councilwoman Jones, Councilman Broadaway, Councilman Gaylor and Councilman Batts voted for the 
motion. Mayor Pro Tem Matthews voted against the motion. The motion passed 5:1.   
 

Public Comment Period. Mayor Ham opened the public comment period. The following people spoke: 

1. Phyllis Merritt-James shared comments regarding Police and Fire Department’s salaries and concerns regarding the 
construction on William Street.  

2. Tenisha Saylor shared comments regarding homelessness and requested assistance.  
3. Peter Stewart shared comments regarding speeding issues on Throughfare Road.  
4. Patricia Wynn requested the Council partner with her to provide a venue for a Job Fair and provided a handout 

(Exhibit B).  
 

No one else spoke and the public comment period was closed.  
 

Consent Agenda – Approved as Recommended. City Manager Salmon presented the Consent Agenda.  All items 
were considered to be routine and could be enacted simultaneously with one motion and a roll call vote.  If a 
Councilmember so requested, any item(s) could be removed from the Consent Agenda and discussed and considered 
separately. In that event, the remaining item(s) on the Consent Agenda would be acted on with one motion and roll call vote.  
Councilman Batts moved the items on the Consent Agenda, Items F - L be approved as recommended by the City Manager 
and staff.  The motion was seconded by Councilman Broadaway and a roll call vote resulted in all members voting in favor 
of the motion. 

 
The items on the Consent Agenda were as follows:  
 
 CDBG Housing Rehabilitation Program Guidelines & Application. Approved. The item was presented by 
Assistant City Manager Livingston. 
  

The City receives federal funds to administer CDBG and HOME programs to assist low to moderate income 
persons with housing and non-housing needs.   
 
The purpose of the CDBG Housing Rehabilitation Program is to foster and maintain affordable, decent, safe, and sanitary 
housing in the city.  The program is available to eligible low-to-moderate income owner-occupied single residence homes 
within the city limits.   Assistance to approved owner-occupied single-family homeowners will be provided in the form of 
0% interest, deferred payment loans, not to exceed a maximum of $30,000. The loan will have an affordability period of 
five (5) years and will be forgiven at a rate of twenty (20) percent per year.  Qualifying homeowners will be served on a 
first-come, first-served basis, as funds are available each fiscal year.  Once funds are exhausted, eligible applicants will be 
placed on a waitlist.  
 
The Community Relations & Development department has developed a more thorough and detailed program guide and 
application.   
 
It was recommended Council adopt the newly developed CDBG Housing Rehabilitation Program Guidelines & Application. 
Consent Agenda Approval. Batts/Broadaway (6 Ayes) 
 



14 of 16 
 

NC Freedom Fest – Temporary Street Closure. Approved. The item was presented by Mike West, Police Chief. 
 

NC Freedom Fest has a mission to honor military personnel and first responders with an inclusive, family-friendly 
festival.    

 
Beginning on Thursday night (September 7th), we will kick off with the Taste of Wayne event at the Hub featuring food 
vendors & live entertainment. Friday night "Freedom Friday/Wear R.E.D." will all take place in the big lot (Freedom Field) 
with entertainment from Joe Brown & The Band as well as food vendors. The following day, the main event (festival) will 
feature a free kid’s zone (inflatables), food trucks, live entertainment, static displays, street fair vendors, the Mt. Olive 
Pickle train, and a car and bike show.  The Parks and Recreation Department is requesting the following street closures: 

 
09/07/2023  The Northbound Lane of South Center Street from Spruce Street to Chestnut Street from 1:00pm – 9:00pm.  
09/08/2023 No street closure request 
09/09/2023 The North and Southbound lanes of Center Street from Ash Street to Chestnut Street from 10:00am – 

10:00pm, the North and Southbound lanes of Center Street from Chestnut Street to Pine Street from 8:00am 
– 10:00pm, Spruce Street between Center and James Street from 10:00am – 10:00pm, and Chestnut Street 
between James and John Street from 10:00am – 10:00pm. 

 
As with all downtown events, affected city departments will be contacted and the following concerns are to be addressed:  

1. All intersections remain open for Police Department traffic control.  
2. A 14-foot fire lane is to be maintained to provide access for fire and emergency vehicles.  
3. All activities, changes in plans, etc., will be coordinated with the Police Department.  
4. The Police and Fire Departments are to be involved in the logistical aspects of the Event. 
5. Certificate of Insurance meeting city requirements will be provided in advance of the event to the city finance 

director and city manager. 
 

It was recommended Council grant the requested temporary street closings of Center Street, Spruce Street, and Chestnut 
Street as stated above. Consent Agenda Approval. Batts/Broadaway (6 Ayes) 

 
US Dept. of Justice: Edward Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG) Formula Program:  Local 

Solicitation. Resolution Adopted.  The item was presented by Mike West, Police Chief. 
 

The Goldsboro Police Department has been notified that Federal  grant funds are available from the 2023 Edward 
Byrne Memorial Justice Assistance Grant (JAG).  This is the same grant that was applied for in 2022.  

 
The total amount of the grant is $47,007.00.  As in 2022, the Grant requires that the application be filed on behalf of both 
the Goldsboro Police Department and the Wayne County Sheriff’s Office.  The Goldsboro Police Department will be 
eligible to receive $29,433.00 and the Wayne County Sheriff’s Office will be eligible to receive $18,269.00. 

 
The grant requires the application be submitted to the City Council for review only, no fewer than 30 days prior to the 
application submission, or before the grant will be awarded.  

 
The Goldsboro Police Department has proposed to purchase In-Car camera systems and IFAK (Individual First Aid Kits) 
and the Wayne County Sheriff’s Office has proposed to purchase IFAK kits for their deputies. 

 
It was recommended the following entitled resolution be adopted supporting the Police Department applying for this grant. 
Consent Agenda Approval. Batts/Broadaway (6 Ayes) 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-55 “A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING THE 2023 EDWARD BYRNE MEMORIAL JUSTICE 
ASSISTANCE GRANT (JAG) APPLICATION” 

 
Deed of Easement between the City of Goldsboro and BPR Goldsboro, LLC. Resolution Adopted. The item 

was presented by Austin Brinkley, Assistant Planning Director. 
 
BPR Goldsboro, LLC needs a 1,374 sq feet designated easement for the purpose of locating their dumpster to serve 

the Homewood Suites of Goldsboro which is currently under construction. This proposed dumpster easement will be located 
within an existing 30’ access and utility easement that was established by a plat located in Plat Cabinet P Slide 47-E.  

 
The approved site plan for Homewood Suites locates the dumpster and screening area within the area that NCDOT will be 
occupying in its right-of-way expansion which is a component of project U-4753. The relocation of the Homewood Suites 
dumpster and screening area to the proposed dumpster easement would mitigate impacts from project U-4753 and provide a 
location for a shared dumpster site to be utilized by both the Homewood Suites and whomever occupies the adjacent 
property owned by the City of Goldsboro (PIN # 3610446826) in the future. The Deed of Easement to BPR Goldsboro, 
LLC will include a reversion clause which allows the City of Goldsboro the right to have access to the easement area after 
60 days’ notice. 

 
Staff recommended Council adopt the following entitled resolution authorizing the Mayor and City Clerk to execute a Deed 
of Easement granting an easement to BPR Goldsboro, LLC. Consent Agenda Approval. Batts/Broadaway (6 Ayes) 



15 of 16 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-56 “RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A DEED OF EASEMENT 
GRANTING AN EASEMENT TO BPR GOLDSBORO, LLC” 

 
 Sale of City Right-of-Way for NCDOT Project U-4753. Approved. The item was presented by Assistant City 
Manager Livingston. 
  

U-4753 is a very significant NCDOT project that widens Wayne Memorial Drive from New Hope Road to US 70 
bypass from two lanes to four lanes while adding turning lanes on New Hope Road that require utility relocations and the 
acquisition of right of way. 
 
DOT needs to acquire a small amount of right-of-way from two City owned parcels.   The first parcel is number 
3610446826 and listed as 2.8 acres.  The attached review summary sheets indicate the land needed is roughly .3 acres 
reducing the property to roughly 2.5 acres which does not adversely affect the proposed future buildout of the property. The 
project requires the contractor to replace portions of the walking trail that runs along New Hope Road. As required by DOT 
practices an appraisal on the property was performed and the fair market value offered for the above easements and right-of-
way is $161,650.  The second parcel is number 3610546722.  This is the City right of way area that contains the heavily 
used multi-purpose path that runs adjacent to New Hope Road.  This path will need to be relocated but it will be put back in 
place per the contract.  The amount of determined value for this .740 parcel is $75,325 of which $56,850 is for land 
acquisition and $18,475 for acquired improvements.  The total offer for both acquisitions is $236,975.   

 
Staff consulted with a licensed commercial real estate broker who confirmed in their professional opinion that the NCDOT 
appraisal offer was an accurate fair market representation of property worth. 

   
City management recommends that the city accept the NCDOT appraisal offer and move ahead with NCDOT project U-
4753 as soon as possible.  Consent Agenda Approval. Batts/Broadaway (6 Ayes) 

 
Resolution Approving the City Fiscal Policy Guidelines. Resolution Adopted. The item was presented by Tim 

Salmon, City Manager. 

The City Fiscal Policy Guidelines were adopted April 19, 2010, revised February 15, 2012, and changed by Council on July 
17, 2023. This resolution officially adopts those changes as revisions to the policy.   
 
Policy revisions are as follows: General Fund (GF) available fund balance target equal to 15%, revised to unassigned fund 
balance equal to at least 15%; Utility Fund (UF) reserve target goal of 50% of expenditures, revised to cash and investments 
equal to at least 50% of expenditures and at no time shall cash and investments fall below 30% of UF operating 
expenditures without Council approval; a bond rating policy was added to maintain a very strong/high bond rating to be 
considered a “low-risk” borrower when obtaining funding for projects.   
 
Staff recommended Council adopt the following entitled Resolution approving the City Fiscal Policy Guidelines with the 
July 17, 2023 revisions. Consent Agenda Approval. Batts/Broadaway (6 Ayes) 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-57 “RESOLUTION APPROVING THE CITY FISCAL POLICY GUIDELINES” 
 

Departmental Monthly Reports. Accepted as Information. The various departmental reports for July 2023 were 
submitted for Council approval. It was recommended that Council accept the reports as information. Consent Agenda 
Approval. Batts/Broadaway (6 Ayes) 

 
         City Manager’s Report.  

City Manager Salmon shared at the next council meeting on September 5th, we are expecting the Fiscal Year 21-22 
Annual Comprehensive Financial Report from Forvis. Seymour Johnson Air Force Base issued their Economic Impact 
Assessment which was nearly 900 million dollars. He thanked city staff and everyone who helped in the clean up after the 
last storm. Fall sports registration is underway. A Shred Event will be held on Wednesday, September 13th from 11:00-2:00 
at the Goldsboro Event Center.  

 
Mayor and Councilmembers’ Comments. 
Councilwoman Jones stated the following: I would like to thank all the nonprofit organizations for pouring into the 

community. We appreciate you. I appreciate every organization that shared what they do at the work session. I would like to 
thank my council for working so well together and I ask all our citizens to please be safe and watch.  

 
Councilman Broadaway stated the following: We had two excellent presentations tonight by the Chief of Police and 

the Fire Chief. I would just like the public to know that the Council is very aware of the vacancies we have in both 
organizations. We're also aware of what is happening in the city. We're going to do our best to fix it at this time and we are 
aware of the problem, and we will work on it. 

 
Mayor Pro Tem Matthews had no comment. 

 
Councilman Gaylor stated the following: Thank you to the nonprofit organizations that were able to come and 

present to us tonight and share those outcomes. Part of why it's so important that we make sure that we are getting 



to3
4
) 

C
is

cd
a
 - , 

y
c
h

0
 
'om

on
o -

iz
j. . 

aCc) 
y

U
 >, 

o
O

4
. 

O

0
Ed
3
a
 

n
U

0
3

o
ani

4
r
 °

 
o

0
. 

t
.
"
 
.
.
 

O
O

 ' 0
 :+

 
t
 

O
". 

O

c
d

a

y
i +

 Ica b
b
 .. 

a
) 

O
. ~

 
O

 " 
O
U

0

4
4

c
o
 -

0
N

O

c
d

c 
w

O
w

U

t
:
 

O
 , 

0
 

4" 
t
o

o
ae

4
.
 

L
7

ca
a

 
a ° 

O
c
d

c
n

m
4
.
 

O
O

O
O

0
4
-

U
O

a
3

t
i

4
.

N
O

O
O

c
d

to
c
d
c
z

Q- 0
) 

0
t
4
-

4 ° 

W
i
l

0
i
t
i
 
°
 
'

c
o
 °

 
O

 ° 
C 

O
E

n
P

 

d
U

o
o

 ° 
to

N
O

b
A

S
1
. , 

O
X

.
 

O
 '" .

0
O

 '
d

C;3 ' 
O

N .
d

o
3° 

w
c
o
  

o
o

b
b

am
i

14. 

N
C

Z
C

. 

4
-

4 .
O

O
 '

2
1

N
c: 

b
A

cd
O

 —

o
El

O
N

3
 «

i
w

O
6b

O
 °

 
O

O
y

O
C

0
c
d

4
-

4
a

 
M

3
a

b
0

13r
o

p
: -

4
o

0
3

3
y ° 

o
n

 ° 
o

o
w

 . o
e
p
i

0to3 to
0

O
vi

O
0

v
4
"
 
'

C
0

O
O

.
O

. .. 
v

a
0

W

c
o

0

E
A

E
n

0

x
c
d

0
El

0
U

o
n

 >
, 

c
o

y
0

0

C
O

 .
C

o
 ?

"
 °

 
o

v
 

0
y." .

Di
Q

. 
U

c
d

3
b

of
W

>
 '. 

2
V

vO
i

N

T
s
c
d

c
z
y

iI
A

0Io

















































































B

Withdrawal Approved







ORDINANCE NO. 2023 – 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP AND COMPREHENSIVE 
LAND USE MAP OF THE CITY OF GOLDSBORO, NORTH CAROLINA 

 
WHEREAS, after notice duly given according to law, a public hearing was held before the City 

Council at a regular meeting held in the City Council Chambers, 214 N. Center St. in the Historic City 
Hall building, on Tuesday, September 5, 2023, at 7:00 p.m., for the purpose of considering and 
discussing the passing of an ordinance amending the Official Zoning Map and the Comprehensive Land 
Use Map of the City of Goldsboro, North Carolina, and the Planning Commission heard the item on 
Monday, August 28, 2023; and 

 
WHEREAS, Dearing Automotive & Diesel, Inc. has submitted a petition to rezone Tax Parcel 

3601-32-1584 from the Residential (R-16) Zoning District to Highway Business (HB) Zoning District; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Goldsboro Comprehensive Land Use Plan places the proposed 

rezoning area in the Mixed-Use II land use designation; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed Highway Business (HB) Zoning District is inconsistent with the 

Mixed-Use II land use designation and Comprehensive Land-Use Map; and  

WHEREAS, the Highway Business (HB) Zoning District is designed to accommodate highway-
oriented retail and commercial uses which generally serve the entire City and nonresident traffic. The 
district encourages high-quality design, ample parking, controlled traffic movements and suitable 
landscaping; and 

 
WHEREAS, the proposed rezoning request is reasonable and, in the public’s best interest due to 

the location of the property in relation to N. US Hwy 117, as well as the Comprehensive Land Use Plan’s 
desire to promote business friendly environments and the location of commercial uses in proximity to 
major thoroughfares.  

 
WHEREAS, the proposed rezoning request is consistent with the Comprehensive Land-Use 

Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, after completion of said public hearing and receipt of the recommendation of the 

Planning Commission, the City Council of the City of Goldsboro deems it advisable and for the best 
interest of the City and those residing within its zoning jurisdiction that the Official Zoning Map and 
Comprehensive Land Use Map of the City of Goldsboro be amended as herein below set forth; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Goldsboro, North 
Carolina: 

1. That the Official Zoning Map and Comprehensive Land Use Map of Goldsboro, North 
Carolina, be and the same is hereby amended by changing: 

From Residential (R-16) to the Highway Business (HB) Zoning District 

From the Mixed-Use II Land Use Map designation to the Commercial designation. 

Z-12-23 Dearing Automotive & Diesel, Inc. (Residential R-16 to Highway Business Zoning 
District) 

Wayne County Tax Identification Number: 3601-32-1584 

2. The above amendment is effective upon the adoption of this Ordinance.  
 
Adopted this 5th day of September 2023. 
 
 

___________________________   
David Ham, Mayor 

Attested by: 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
Holly Jones, Deputy City Clerk  

 
 



 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023 - 
 

AN ORDINANCE DENYING AMENDING THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP AND 
COMPREHENSIVE LAND USE MAP OF THE CITY OF GOLDSBORO, NORTH CAROLINA 
 

WHEREAS, after notice duly given according to law, a public hearing was held before the City 
Council at a regular meeting held in the City Council Chambers, 214 N. Center St. in the Historic City 
Hall building, on Tuesday, September 5, 2023, at 7:00 p.m., for the purpose of considering and 
discussing the passing of an ordinance amending the Official Zoning Map and the Comprehensive Land 
Use Map of the City of Goldsboro, North Carolina, and the Planning Commission heard the item on 
Monday, August 28, 2023; and 

 
WHEREAS, Dearing Automotive & Diesel, Inc. has submitted a petition to rezone Tax Parcel 

3601-32-1584 from the Residential (R-16) Zoning District to Highway Business (HB) Zoning District; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, the City of Goldsboro Comprehensive Land Use Plan places the proposed rezoning 

area in the Mixed-Use II land use designation; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed Highway Business (HB) Zoning District is inconsistent with the 

Mixed-Use II land use designation; and  

WHEREAS, the Highway Business (HB) Zoning District is designed to accommodate highway-
oriented retail and commercial uses which generally serve the entire City and nonresident traffic. The 
district encourages high-quality design, ample parking, controlled traffic movements and suitable 
landscaping; and 

 
WHEREAS, the proposed rezoning request is unreasonable and, not in the public’s best interest 

since the proposed rezoning classification will impair or injure the health, safety, and general welfare of 
the public; and  

 
WHEREAS, the proposed rezoning request could encourage development that could negatively 

impact properties in close proximity; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed rezoning request is not consistent with the Goldsboro Comprehensive 

Land-Use Plan and Land-Use Map; and 
 
WHEREAS, after completion of said public hearing and receipt of the recommendation of the 

Planning Commission, the City Council of the City of Goldsboro deems it unadvisable and not in the 
best interest of the City and those residing within its zoning jurisdiction. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Goldsboro, North 
Carolina: 

1. That the petition to amend the Official Zoning Map and Comprehensive Land Use 
Map of the City of Goldsboro, North Carolina, rezoning Tax Parcel: 3601-32-1584 
to the Highway Business (HB) Zoning District is hereby DENIED. 

 
 
Adopted this 5th day of September, 2023. 
 
 
 

___________________________   
David Ham, Mayor 

Attested by: 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
Holly Jones, Deputy City Clerk  
 



C







C > 

41  

f0

fC

d4

r

io

J

c

U

0

c _ 

U

a

f6

4+ 

c

U

a, > 

0

a, 

C

c

a, 

c

a1

V) > 

0

M

tao

m

V) 

p

t

a

a, 

mp
o

co ,} 

o

U

a

a

a

Cl)

S +

1

a ' 

L

c

O

t+ 

o

o

3

U

a, 

u

to

a, 

00

a-+ 

Qi + 

a

O

O 

o

aJ

m

L

a

o

5

E

c

LnE
LU

CU

ca

c

a '+- 

a

t ° 

L

a + 

O

c + 

0

c

a; 

o

v

2

aA

t > 

Q ° 

in  

Ln  

v

a,   

c

o ° 

Ln

a, 

t

a

CD

U

LlO

O

O

O

Q

c

4- 

U

n

Z

t+

o -

a

U

Q

a

t

co

a

x -

p

vai

c

O

c

0

U

0

a, 

O

t

0

o

o

N `^ 

a, 

o -

a

o ? 

3  

v

N

Col

E ,

o

O 

a

o= 

oo

t

o

c

Ln

E_ 

a

v

c

ac, 

41

c

3

O

N

E — 

o

L

a +

J

3

U

a, 

ca

E

ro

oA

Ln

4- ; 

U

c - 

L

t

v

a, 

c

c

c .

F , 

o °' 

c

4

J

a ° 

co

a, 

cu

Mp ' 

dJ

a -

0 -

a

E. +

j >- = 

X

f

6 +

1

0

c

c °' 

3

0 `° > 

O

N +—' 

Q +, 

X +' 

a, 

c

0 _ 

In

tA

on

c +' '> 

aJ

L ++ 

L

U

a, 

c

O

U

f6

d

c

n

c

v

c

a

O

v

v

O

v> 

t +. 

w

U

O

O "

a

O

t

cn

a, "- 

E

a, 

o

c

a, 

co

L

E

to -

0

M

c

o

U

E

c

n, 

v

to

Z

O

u

t  

c 

a, 

m •

N

ro

O

ca

0 `

n

m

y

Z

N

3

a

c

c

m

a, 

d

to

E

o- 

J

w

J ' ++ -

0

a, 

m

Q

O

c

L

tC

in

U

a, 

O

O

c

ca '^ 

c

0 ++ 

to

N

O

c

ca

p

Q- 

U

Q) 

to

CO > 

c > 

0

M

y

c

L +, > 

Q

in

3

cn

ro

to

CU

L

v 

O + 

O

c

o

c '

Q

O

v

v

t

E_ 

a, 

t

O

L- 

a, 

U "

a

Q +, 

a, 

a-+ 

a, .

a

in

cn

L

v) 

4-

J

a

ca , 

a

0

t

c

t +

J

v •

N ++ 

U

c

L

0

0

ao

o -

a

o

3

v

o , 

L ° 

O

E

a, 

U

U

a

c °; 

W

a

o

E

a, 

E

a, 

E -° 

c

n3

v

a

0 =

a } 

t6 — 

E

O

N + 

c

0

a) '

a

E

O

to

O

O

c

v

c -

a > .

N

L

E

E

o

tO

E

w

c •

c

U

U °' 

E

on

v -

a

Q) 

qAa

v

a

E

aci

c

w

41

E

S

v

o .

E

o

J

f6

a, 

0

bD

t

L

to

w

t

4- 

co +' 

O

O -

a

m +

u

4—+ 

N

c

a, 

O

C7t
C7 

a, 

x

a, 

O

cV

a) 

N

L

m

a

V) 

CU

v

w- +, 

4— 

O

N

aO+ 

v '^ 

a

c +' 

c

O

to

4, 

a 

o

a, 

a

U `-' 

c

a

m

w

O .

E

o 

a

a, .

L °

a

E

c `° 

U

c

C .= 

Ln

SF+ > 

E

Y

p

O

O

O (

6 ++ 

c , 

v

O

ft+ 

cr

0

0

U 

4' 

O

c

c + 

a

s

t

o

u

a, 

u

E

a , 

a, 

a

L > 

v

c

L

a, 

c .

o •

o  

3

a, 

a, 

a, 

O ° -

a

E

a, 

v

a, `° 

L

a, 

a, 

3

c

a, ° 

u

ra

t -

a

Ln _N _ 

Y

a, 

t

U

t +

J

4J

t -

a

t >

O

t

a, 

t $ 

U

40

a, 

t

N

E

c ' -

a

c + +, 

Q +

J

c +

r

L +

J

n +

J

a, 

c

E +'

te

c

a, 

a, 

E

E

vi

cit

vi

vi

N

N' 

O

vi

Q- 

N = 

vi

vi
tF, "

a

ro

vi

c

0

W

w

m

EO

EO

W

00

W

W

a, 

W

4J

W

m

W

W

a

W

c

W

c -

0

W

Z

CC

aJ

N

U

U =  

CSC

L

CC

a

CC

a

CC - 

Ct

c

Cc "

a

GC

m

Ct

O = 

W

W

W

O

W

W

L

W

X

W

O

W

5

W

W '

N

a, 

W

2 > 

c

C

2

L

2

4- _ 

co = 

O = , 

2

Q- 

2

m

o

2

c

2 

n

p

0

2

4o

O

3' 

3Q

3v

3a

3L
3 

3L

3bn

3a
3  

3 

0

c

c

t

a, 

Ln _ 

y

l6

t6

t

0 }' 

i > 

0

O

Ln

V) 

O

c

O

a ,

O^ 

L

o

a

a

U

U •

3

0

t -

a

O

Z) 

U

m

cD

L

V

ttOZ00Lna00ULna, Ucf0cO
4- 

0OUvt4— O00O

ino

rl — r -
I

a 

Ooo

Mv

0

0

cn

a, 

00

a, E

L

m^1,, 

4

i

W

CL -° t

c

UM

O

H

U

OZ

a

2

uii6

a) 

N

W4J cL

LLQ.

4 YE
J2uiN04

1.

4

a

cc
4- 

o

coJuaa

apa, 
3Ln

V) ma, toUa

o

O

m0
u
U

aw LOOZ- 

c_ toL
a) aHcL -

o

JO
E

uia

0- U

U

cn

Oo0

Oo0

Oc
o0

Ooo

Oo6

Oo0

Oo0

O00

O0o

uii6



Q
Q

2HQ
a -

IO06rqLM

L- 

0

c

4+ +

1C
m

Y

G

oLn

m

o ° 

vi

m ^ 

v

Y

v

3

N

v

0

CA_ 

U

N

Q

a + 

a .` .

a ,} += 

U

s

a

L- 

s -

L

Q

Q

O

Q

3 • . 

N

N

m

a

O

a

m

s

m

in

0

p

U

u

Q

m +' "

a

s

U

p

U

U

OCC
m

L

O

Gp

a

U +' 

CLO

N > 

m

U •

3

N ... 

N

m

m

u

Q

N

y

u > 

N` 

a 

c

3

c

E .

a -

a

V) 

3

a -

a

Q :

c

a

a

a

Ln

c -

0

v „-  

a

GOO > 

3

C `

n .

L ° + , 

TO

N °' 

co ° 

p +_' 

Q ++ 

t

a ° ° 

Co

m

a

a

m > 

a

s

a

d +

1

o

a

L

Vi

m ._ .

a ° 

O

O

L

m

L ( 

L

s

O

N

O

C

GO ++ 

O

a • 

U

3

L

3

3 ,

a -

a

L

N

L

a

u

s

J

v

a

0

L

4- 

C *' 

p

4- 

N •

N

O

m

u

tm

c

c

m

m

p

O °_ 

L

m

p

a

U

p

Q _ 

c

p

L - 

N

N  

c

Y

a

d

U

L

U

N

U . ° +•+ 

i•+ 

a

a .

a

U

a

m

O

Y

a

a

U -.+ 

Q

Cl '

L

L

m

a

a ++ 

t

u + 

E

Q "' 

L

L

a

m

m

m

Y

a '

L

m` 

o> 

L

N

s

x

a

O

E

m

c _ 

vi -
a

Q

c

3 _ 

c

m

L

N +

J

3 + 

u +

J +-' 

O

J + 

i — 

a

m

Y

m '

L

Z

N

a

o

a

mm
3

a

aLn
t -

0 _ +

J

c

a ( 

CU

o

a

s

4- 

Q = 

c

a

3 +

Ln

m

s }' 

a

a

a "

a

U

s

a' •

N

U . 

O

c

a ° 

a - 

m

C

a

a ° 

n

u

c

C

m

U

c

C '^ 

m

O

O- 

tOo

a

m

N

Y

H • 

p > 

s

a

s

3 >- 

1

a% -

a

N

a

N

o

vi

a

w

w

a

a >, 

p ,"' >, 

to

N

N

mcu
CLQ

N

m

e

a

m *' 

p

a

Q

u

cn
4' 

LU

C °' 

a

N `° 

L

s

O

O

cu ,. *= 

3

O

v

a- 

a

a3i

c

0

C

a

a

a  

m

as

of

0i

o 

u

u

3

c

a' 

t

v

c -° 

d

a }. 

U

Q

a

L

a

m

N

C

a

m

a — 

a

o

3

m

L ( 

a

m

U

c +, 

m

f6

N

s

a

to -

0c 3U
Oo

a

O

O

CO

4- 

C 

c

a

Y

s

Ou

a

s

m

Q *° 

o° 

a

O

0

0

0

L- 

Ov
n

u

a— 

c -

o

p

N (

G +

r

m

L

m

c

a

m

Q

c

a

L

a

a

N

Q

c

N

a

p

L

E

L

m

a

i- 

p >` 

L

Q

m

o

m

c

m

a

N -

p - 

L

O

3 — 

O

O +

r

o + +

J

o > 

3

m

Ln

O

c

a °  

fL0 ° 

a

V

4- 

C  

O

W

Y

c

is-+ ,

O

c % 

L

N

N

a +_+ 

N

a

c

Q- 

a-+ 

N

a ++ 

N

O

L +

t, - 

N

p

N

N

m

O

O

u

U

L- 

4- 

c

a

E

o +_ >- 

3

E

a

s

E

L° 

a

a' 

v

L

c

U

v

a

o

3

U

a

v

a

o

Q

LQ

Y

3

U

a

O

a

s

C

m

N

p

N

m

a' 

c

m

LO

E

a

C

m

c

s

GOO

p

u '

p

N `+' 

Y

a -

0

a

a +' 

i} 

c

a

N

N +

J

O

3

s

a

fl °

L ++ 

U

c ++ 

m ++ +

J

m

N

a

N ° > ._ + 

a

N

r,= 

w

m

a

s + 

N> 

c

a

m

m +' 

N

a .- 

s

a

3 +' - 

N

u

C

a= 

a

a

m +, 

s

a

U

pO

N

a

a

O +, "

a

O

a

O +

J ++ 

a

L

a

O

N

a

Q '

a

s

c_ 

H

N ;

a +

J

a

a

a

N

s

u

c

v

p

a °' 

E

L

a

L

U ° ° -

a

m

o

3

U +

J

E

O

cu

Ln

0

N

a

pp ~ ° 

a

s

m

of +

J

N

a

L

3 '} 

LO

m -

O + 

p

c •

L

L

N

s

a

N

a

v- 

c

c

t

c

L

m

c

a ,

p

o

a

4. 

c "

a

O

c }, 

L

a

a

41

a

E

o

N

s

o

W

o

w

a

a

o

cu

Q •- 

c

N-

0

E ) •

N

3 •

c

E

E

a

m

u

m

s

s + >, 

L

to

C - 

3

OC = 

d

V) '= 

L .

N

p , 

L

a

to +, - 

a

m

Y

N

L

o

Q

w

a~ 

c

0 + 

p

a

O

s

p

v- ++ 

4- 

c

a

Gp

c

0

c

L

m `^ 

v

0

0

0 •

N

a

m

7

m

O

Q

E

V •

L

N

m

Y

pp +- `- 

a

m

a

L

O

a

U

a

a ++ 

a

m

L

L- 

N

a

p

L

3

m `* 

z

N

o

0° 

a

0— 

o

of

6n

ao

o

o

v

E

a

3

c

Q

c  

ami   '

m ° 

o

c > 

o

E

N

a

a + 

a

O

c

a

Q

3° 

7

s} 

3

c

c

o

a

L

GA

N

c

w

o .°

c

o

O

O

L

m

p

s

o

o

L

c  

s

a

O

a

n

o

m '

a

4- 

N

3

a

v= 

Q,

o

a.

a

a

o

s

Y

to = 

n" 

c

a

CL

Q) '

N

a

a

3

O `+- 

O

a > 

a

v

w

a > 

m

a

a

a

pap

m

30

E

a

Q

L

m

O

t> ++ 

U

to

C_ 

N

O

s . 

c

CL `

o ° 

L

Q

w

N + 

p  

C

m

a

C

E

cOa

L

m

c

m

c

m

b11 + -

s

o

L

O

Q

s

vi

m

U

a  

m _ 

m

a (

0 "

a ++ 

a

L

o

3

O

a + . 

z

o

W +, 

o

E _^ (

u .

Q

w

cC

m ° 

o

o

v

m

3

m

a>, 

v '

N

m

u

o

m

E

a

E

C

L

m

a- 

o

s

m

m

fG

a

W

a

c

Z

Q =

O '> 

O

O

C

U

L

O

O

Q

U

m

O

N  

m

Q

a ++ 

O

O

aa+ 

U

L

s '

u

Vi +, .

c

a +'  

m

a

N

a

m

s

Q

p

i ++ 

Z

m

p

O

a '

N

a -

a

c

a +, 

a

N + >++ 

m

N

z

C7 +

J

v

Q

vi

N

m

Q

a

L

N +

J

I= 

3

p

c

p

o— 

m ° 

o

Q +

J

L

a +' 

N

a

a

L

a

N

3

7

O

o +-' 

Q

L

m

c

v> 

s } 

c

Q

O

W

o

Q

v

L

Q
f0

p + ° 

O

N

a

O

U

t

a

a -

p

p

c

CC

O

Cr

m

O

U

m

4- 

Q

a

vi

L

d

4- 

m ~ 

O

s

m +

a, 

m

Q

4- 

L > 

a

m

to

a +

r • > 

bDat
CU
H ; 

v

W

m

WS
u

a

N

3

as
o

O

s

m

Q +, 

V) 

m

o ° 

o °

m

o,_

s

c.

3

0

fl" 

O

a> 

Z ° 

a > 

I-- 

a

L

m ' 

L

L

F. ++ 

s

V

c  

s

a

a

N

L + 

GA

Q

N +' 

E

Q

m -

a

u

E

t

LL

Q

m

c

m

W

Q

N
4-

1

GO

Z

C

Z

O

ti4

1

z

a

H

a

a

m

c

u

m

Q

Q

C

c ' 

a

C

E

m

m

c

U

W , 

Gp

3

LL

L

u

a

Q

a

a

Q

Y

s

a

O

o

t

O > 

p

a

3

a

c

a

s

pp > 

Q

c

vi

o

c

OC } 

v

c

v

w +-, 

a } 

U

3

c

O

c

4- 

U

s

Q

cLo _ 

N

a

N

v

C -

a

N

c+ .

O

m

O

a

m

O

s ` 

m

c

m !- 

N +

J ° 

Q -

a

V, 

a

a+ 

a

L

a

s

a

o

O -

0

E

c

c

c

c

J

Y_ . 

L

N

NO

S

Z "

a '

L

W

3

m >` 

Q

m +

m+ 

U

Q '

Y

c

M

a

tw

N

s

pO

t ° 

s

to

s
4- 

a

Q ' 

m

U

m

N +, 

L

O +' 

N

U

U

C

L + 

U

W
4' 

a

N

U

m

m

O

L

LU

m

p

H = 

H ,, 

H

m

o

a

L

o

w

V

a

N

a

m

a

L

V

a

n•+ 

O

L

0

c.

i {

n

a

s

Vf

3 >` 

m

L

N

O

L

L ++ 

Is- -_

aa

cO

w

cu

U- 

CL

E

v

Q

a 

v

M° 

v

C

o

a

c

o

p= 

O "_

a

m  

a

v

v

Q .

v

m

Q

U

a>
i

o

w

a

o

a 

7 = 

Gan

Vf

u

O

Q

to) 

L

Q

Q

c

m

Q

w

U

m ,+  

m

N

U

v 

0f

CO "

p "

a

v
0  

m

v
s

v
u ++ - "

O

v
w

m



a

a

@

E '+ 

4J = 

a ° 

4_ 

O

O -

a

L

a

L

LJ

m _

N

C + f0

m

E

m

a-% 

O ° 

a

d

E

va

a

O

a

N

a

O
a, = 

s=% 

a

L

N

a, 

l+'/

I = 

hA ° +' = 

L

L

aCL

s > 

a ++ 

m +, 

N

4- 

E

cuO° 
L= 

7

m

X' 

O

O

O '

a

L

UCU ° 

m

a

m

a= 

N

E

m

O

m

s

a  

0

s

a

Q

m ° 

a

a

m

a >, +

J

a

a

N +

r = 

m

a + 

m

Q

a

3

a + 

m

o

p

CL

QN' ++ .

N = 

N = 

m ._ 

v

s

v

0 +

s.+ 

amn

Y >• 

N

0

m -

aa

U

a

a) 

U

s

L

C

v

o

L

m

a +

J

o

m

s

C

a.

m., 

0

tin

a

s +, 

U

N

L

OL  

cu .= 

m

3

L

o

N

COQ

c

m

v0

a, 

o > 

o

aE, • 

o

v

a; 

o_ 

c

L 

a

o

o

a

u

3

c

a

a

a

a

a

tan

m _ 

to

m

m

a ( 

x

s

L +

J

f° +' 

m

a

a

a > 

bA

a " }' `° `- °- 

a

c '

U

cm

W

W '=' 

o 

n

t ° 

a, 

cWa

a + 

3 °

n

m

v

cLa

Q) 

s

a

N

O

N

O

E = > 

N

U

s

N

L

s' 

va +, 

i ++ 

N

m

N

a

S

a

L +

1

c

E

L

a

a

O

m ,

J., 

m

U> 

N  + 

N

a

O

a

O

a

a, 

E

N

O

m

O

a

s > ++ 

v

E= 

a

a

a ++ 

m

N

a

m

s '

a

s '

a

vi

v
ai > .

a

C

a

a

c

tan

m

3

a

m= 

H+ 

v=> 

o _ 

m

3

a

a

m _ 

CU

m' 

o  

c

a

m

m

u

m `° 

m `

vi = 

v} 

s

s+ _ +

r

o °; 

N

a = 

v

E

v

O

E

s

o

Q

s

tan

O

L .

0

taro "

L

u= 

c _ 

ons > 

a

N . 

tan

a

s

W

u

fta

s

m

C _

m ,

mn > 

O=-

0

m +- 

o

f

OU = '

a

L

O +

J +.

1 + 

m

L

Y }, 

O= 

tan

v

ftf

O° 

a

L

V

a

L

a

Q }, • = 

a

Y
4- 

4- 

U 

m

L

s
a.., 

Ln

v- — 

s

a

s

4- 

tan

a

u

a

0

a

p

L

N

O

Q

m

a

O

O

sa
p

O

w

N

O

Q

N

c

E

ON

U

Q

p

4- 

m

N

4- 

r ` 

a

L ,[ 

O

m + 

a . 

a _

u

a

m

a- . 

U

Q) 

N

41

N ++ 

L

L = = 

a _ 

Q

E +

1c - 

L

N

m

c

o

c

a

c

E

oan

tan

a

m-

0

a

o .

N

cuts

Q

a

3° ° 

a

M_ , 

o

Lu

Q

u° 

a- 

uc

d

O

N

C

UO = 

O

E

a -

a

O

4-- 

O

a= 

U = 

4' 

a-

0

C .

N

E= 

O> 

a

s

O

p_

0 '

a

a

a

c

N

m

N

L

m

L *' 

U

a _ +' 

m° +, 

c -

O

U

x

E

s _

a

N _ 

a

Q

0= 

a

U

p -

a

m

m

L

L

N

m

m

L ++ 

O

N

U

c

E

m ++ .

c -

Y

ai

U

L

U

41-
0

m

U `- 

a

m

N

v

o ° ° 

N >, 

n

to

m . ` > _ 

c +

r

v

3 = 

No

o

aa) - 

a  

u • 

o

ca

u

a

a  ' 

M

o

c=

o

a

p

s

e = 

0

a  ° 

cL° + 

E

t

L

f

6

m `_^ _ +

J ° 

L -

a 

i

0

N

o

m

C

J

3

Y

o  

a

m

i

m -= 

oo

a

U

v}'
i > 

a

c

m +, 

a

3

O

a

m = 

LO ° _ *' ' 

a '

a

m = 

a

O  > 

a

cr

m

r -
i

L

L = 

E

m ° 

a` 

Q = > 

v

a

m

s . 

U

a

LA

m

m

6

3

E

o

H

c

s

a

3

t

L +, ,. 

a' 

0 > 

O

m

L

L

m

a

a

U

a

E

L

O _ 

a

U

N

U

L

tp ••, = 

a

N

O = 

O

a

a

a

L

LO) 

N

a

a +, 

s

s

a '

a

m

a

m

a.+ 

N

m

tali

m

m

E +' 

O

N +' 

O

a = 

m •

L > •  _

a  [

1n

m

a

a

a

p

Ln

a-+ +' 

s = 

L = 

V

a +

d

a

m

i.

d

m = 

m

CU = 

Q

a

a ,,, 

N '= 

O

O

L- 

m

O

m

L +., 

tao  +. 

m

s 

O= 

M

s
c=

o

a

a) 

s° 

a

a

do

N

3

U

o

m

v -

a = 

a  ° ' ` ° 

3

0 -

a

a

c+

i) 

Lna= 

O

L -

a

a = 

a

a

N

N~ 

m

a} 

a

m

v

N ° 

m -

a = "

a > 

OU +

s+ 

i =

O

m

m

Y

E

p ++ 

a

0

a

L `- '

i

O +

a+ >

O

N

L

E + 

a

m

Q

m

3 +

s+ = 

i

N

t. 

Q= ° 

Q

O

a = 

O ++ 

G1

a

ct3 '- 

O

p  

OU

s

a ++ 

a +'

0

3: 

x

m

U

a

Q

p

N + 

p= ` 

a

O = 

N

O

a_ 

m

Q

L

L = 

m

L -

C

CE

U

4- 

4JLn
cu

U

N

CU

a

O ++ 

4- = 

O

o

a

a 

y (

C

a

E

a

L

a

a

O

o = 

a

a

L

s

a

o° 

v

0

L

a

N

3

o

E _- 

N

a }, +

J

a

a

s

N

u

a

Q

c

L = 

N

u +) 

0

a

3 ° 

a

a

s

3

o

f - 

a +, 

a

Y

m

a

N

m

m

a

a .

N

a

Lri +
J

O .- 

a

Q- , 

a °' 

a ° 

U

U

E

U

s = " 

E

o

qLn , 
u

a

L

a_ __ 

cts

vN, 

E

a

L +.

j

Q

U

U

E

s

Q) >- 

c

N

a

U

o

a

CO ° 

m

N

a

Q '

m = = 

O

s

O ' 

a

p

3

a

N

Q

Q

ca

m

N

L

a

ai +-, 

o

a

o

m

s

s

a +, „ 

a

c°

Do

Q

O

Q

m

E

o

f

m

o

Q +' 

u '

a

E

ms, 

U _ ' _ ° 

c

ca

a

W > 

to

c

L

L

U

j= > 

s

N

m

s

L " •

a=_+ 

a ._ 

a +

a) -= 

U  ` 

O +

J ' = 

N

a '

N

7 

s

a

m

m > 

p

s ( 

a

0

L +' 

tp

N

a

s >• -

a

N

m= 

N

O

3 +

J > 

a

E

m ` _ +' 

a

u

c

L

m

C7

m° 

tan

a ;

a

N

s

E

a

m }' 

Q (

d

L

a

s

N

v

a = 

a

N

3

3

m ,,, 

a

U

m

o

s

t

m

a

T

a 

L

a

s

a > 

N

p= 

a•' 

m

o

a

E

O

a

a -

a

N

a +, 

L +, 

m

t

U ,} 

L

O

s

N +' = 

a

E

L

s

E

a .

L

a +

J 

D

N

3

DC

U

N

a + 

3

a

O > 

L

LnM

U

N

a

m = 

N = = 

aa+ 

Y

O

O

L

a +' 

L

un

m > 

a 

a) 

m

v

a
4- 

a, 

O

c

W

4- 

m

m

m

a

s +

s

O

O

a = 

a

a

a

a

c

E

a-

0

a

m

in

a

s > 

o > 

o — 

V + 

f

6 -

a = 

N +

1

C

N

a>

i +! 

L

m  

O  

W

m

a > 

O

L

s = 

a

W

L

m = 

Q- 

vi

L

O  

O

L

sM

a

W

L

p

a., 

a

a

4_ 

s

E ._ 

E

E

3

u

a

a

o

u= 

4- 

m

Q

V

a

c

Z

E

m

N (

p

s

41m

cL
V

a

E = 

O

O

U > 

H

O "

a

O

c— 

c

m`- 

a

m +' 

m

U

m

O

c >, 

CO

a

E

E

a •

2

O= 

J == 

p

E

m

a
Ln

a, 

U +, 

u

m

a

s

o = 

c _

u

M

N

O .- 

a

ate., 

to

E

V

E -

a

a

O

a

Q

u

o >, 

L > 

a °' 

a '

ta

O °° 

t' 

a 

V) 

m >

ai

a

N

a

m

L

s

a

p

m

Q

L

4- 

L

s

caa '

N

L

y
j

C

m

aa., 

U

it

p

t

0 •

N

Q

p

a 

tp -

a

t _, 

N

a-+ 

Q

a

L

4Ln

L-- 

m

m

N

U -

a

5

O

L .

N = 

a

O

W .

4+ 

L

a = 

a .., 

m

a

Q = 

O

m

s

a

m

a

U '

a }, 

a

m

a > = 

a

O

O

a

L

U -

a

E

COate' 
c

v .

3 _ 

o

a

0) 

a

w

e ° 

c

a  

c

o

u '

S +  

Q

a } 

m

m "

E

a

v

N

a -

i

a

v

CO

L

a .., 

m

L

an = 

tan

U. 

Q

a

4- 

w

tp

W •

a

L

4- 

M

a 

Q

m

p

N

m

Q

N

Q

x

a., 

E

L •— 

s

s = 

w

N

4- 

a

c.

a

4- 

U

s

a

m •— 

a

m

4- 

L

4- 

O

O

m = 

c

L +, 

a 

m

O

4- 

ai

m

a

a

0

4= 

E

vi

L

U "

a . 

V? 

0

O

E

U

O

m

0= +• 

7 ° 

c

U ''' = 

a +' 

a

a' 

a

s

m

m

s

p

L

p -_ = 

U +' 

a

a

a = 

f=

6 > 

W

a ° 

Y

a

CL

a

O= 

p

a.

m.+ = 

4- 

z

N

a +' 

m

U
4-

c: 

0

a", 

d

s

s

a '^ 

41  

m

a  

V

Y

N

M

N °- 

a +

r

m «

s

a = 

o

o

Ln

u

s

N

m

U

v

U +, +, 

N

A

o

a = 

4- 

L

a

u= 

c

a

m

L — 

a

U

4n

m

3

a

4- 

a

OU

U = 

N >` 

0

a

a

Z

3

m

a

m

7

m

m>° 

L

p° 

O

hn

Y

N

N

a

N

v

O

fta

m = 

to a = 

U

o

N

L

a = 

laA

m "

a

E

N

C

4- 

Q °= 

a

s

a

a

a :° 

E +-' 

t

u -

a = 

cLo

m = 

a' °> 

a

m

co

s

a3i

a= 

m° 

E

i

m= 

U "

a

o

m

m

O

4- 

O - 

L

p

L

a

N =- 

a

cUa

vai

a 

m

a

o

a

a

3

E

a

m

s
a' + = 

N *' '' 

m

a -

a

E

L

c

a

U

0

aN_., .= 

O `

0

4.
1

a

m

U

a

c

a

H +_ 

va ° 

p

p

p

w

O

o

m

a

m

a) 

Q-  

u

L > 

a

N ~ • 

am-+ 

m

a

0

3

v

0

0

a•., > 

in

C

0

0

o_ 

E

m

3° 

u

a

v

c

O

a

E

u

a

c

c 

v

a •

r

U

m

s

a

a

N

a

a

m

i

on

Lu

a

a

o

cai

Q
m

a>= 

t

o

a '`° -° 

Q

N

N

L

L

Va ° 

x

m

a,  

a

s

m

m

s

s

p

Y

U> 

Q

s

N

s_ '

N

i

4._ 

a

s

x = 

a.+ (

q

LH ++ 

m

s

t

a

s

C) 

a

a

a

Q +' 

O *' 

N

Q

m

Q

C

L

E

L +

J

H

N

m

tan +_+ 

a

H > 

p

a

s

p

N

H

a

W

E

F- 

a

L

p

H

a

E

a

c +' 

L  °" 

caa

E= 

0

3= 

u

a

E

s

s , 

a

s

a

N _ 

m

m

00 , 

s +' 

a

W = 

a ._ + 

Y

a

e•

i

O

Q +, 

Y

m

a

m

a + 

m

m

U
c

a

O° +

1 = 

U

s

W 

i
c -

a ( `^ ° 

O

p

W

N

i = 

4- ' 

a
4- 

a

a 

i

a .

r

ei

Z

a

N

a

N

iJ

s 

i

a ..

a

m

a

a .... 

fC

N 

i

U

L

L ( 

a.

d

m

L

N

i.. 

z

U

Q = 

s

a

s

a

s

a

m

o

L

O _ 

s — 

O

a

O

a

4- 

a

O

Q

m

O

O

O

a '

a

m

1Q1

a.., 

L

a.., 

L

m

a.+ 

N

N

U --

I

m

a

o

Q
4- 

4- 

d

N

U

a

4- 

L

fQ1

Q

0

a

u



N

C

L

C

N

Ln

V

L

O

E ° 

di

12C
O

V

p

Q .-

1

Ca ° 

L

Q

L

o +.+ 

L

t6

v

a
j "

m

1

t

C

C

Q

N

O (

L6

fo

C ++ 

C

Q

aJ

t

U

L

tLo

N

a1

a

3

0° 

C ° 

ca

o

u , 

o

Y

C

O

ra

vv_ i

two

E

N

co _

U

O  

O

Zn

co

N +

1

4CD — s "

p

s

O

co

L

N

O' 

L

OA *-' 

U

N

C

to

hA

fo

S +' 

i- ++ > 

to

C

O

t

o

E

N

E ' 

0 , 

a, 

3

0

3

L

a

U

O

U

a) +

J

C

J

f6

7

O

L .

0

C

fo

a

p

O

o •

E , 

w

O

L

to >- 

0

C

O- 

o

t

t +' 

o '^ _ 

o

E

E

C

N

C

t

a, 

E-

0

c

CU

E

o

U ++ .

0

C

L

to ++ 

a

L

to

co

C

L

U

i

C

m

cu ' 

L _ 

L

4J

C

t

C

C

O° 

aJ

O

O

O  

EO > 

4- 

1

a1 _ 

to

a

s

N

C

to

O

fl- '^ 

to 

p

O ++ 

N

C

U

Y

C

cu ° 

O

O

U

C

4  

vOi "

C ° 

O

U

4- 

O

v

cL6

a) } 

N

C

M

C

Q

fo

CO

N > 

C +

1 +

J

01

0

C

a  

C  

a  `•  

C ++   >, 

DD

o- 

L >, 

O

3

3

OA

o

Lfa
C

C +, 

W

a

v= 

U

N

E

U ° 

p

CL

C ++ 

ri

E

o

L

O

N

C

a +' 

a ++ 

U 

V

t0 - 

C

4J > 

v

a

C

Q

a

C

O .

0

p

a

E -

0

E

O

cu

ca

O

0

u -

C

a

ca

ca

Ln .

0

co

O 

V

WOn

N

o

Y

3

in

3

a " + 

O ' + + > 

u

U

al

N

cao +' 

t -

0

U > 

O

a) 

4— 

0 " 

m

Q

o -

0

a

Q

C — 

N

O

ra + 

m > 

La

0 +

J

aJ :  

a) 

0

LJ ;,  }' 

O

V  

L

3

Q _

7

L

O

fo

C

C

N

E

U

C ' 

N

to

CU + ` '

n

U

O

a) 

L

00

L

U

o

o

U

N

0

E

C

v

a, 

to

t

t

E

0 ° ° 

L

C

s

O

C

OA

3

N -

a

0

0 '- 

L

L

E

ai

a

L' 

to

4 +' 

4- 

a: 

4- _ 

m (

V

L

0 '

O

L- 

p

C •

N

ate+ 

o }

J

N

a, 

N

U

m

o° 

p ° 

a, . = 

a

to

0

a

3

L

4' , 

O ;

N •

5

o

v

a
v

c  

a`

L° 

o

v

v

3

3

4

a) —>' 

c

C

b

LA

f

6 ° 

c` 

c

a -

C

CO

f° 

a

t

Ln

N

m

C (

U — 

L

fid- -

0

a

ai

V

ai >. 

O

L -

Q

a

L

v

4' 

E

C --

0a ° 

a

3

0

0 +
c

a +, 

ro

E

m

o

N— 

E

E

v

E

LD

4' 

u

v °' ° 

0

a) 

L >- 

CU

L

L

dA

C

4J

ai

f0

N ++ 

N

C

O +

1  — 

m
4

J _ 

L

Q

S _

C '

a  

N 

C  

co -

0

0 }' 

p

C

0

a .> •

E

Y

L

u

N

N

C

v

a

CL

fo

L

p

L +' 

o

O

v

v +' 

in

C

E

a

i+ 

p

Ln

O

O

E

O

E

N

OCA
O

co

OA

O -

C _

U

o

U

L

v

V •

U

to

L >• 

L

4% 

a

t >„ •

Ufo

fo

i

S }' 

a1

O

C

QJ

a, 

au .

w

0°' 

t

o

o

a

M

v

E ,- 

L

a, 

ra

C ' 

E

n

c

m

co

L

3cu

0= 

0

E

bD

Q

a1

0 ` + 

C

N

V +' 

Q

N

o

fo ++ 

E

O

o

4' 

O

a

C ° 

aJ

O

Q) 

G

L

U

L

o > 

L

L

N

p +

J

CU

o

cp

E '_ 

a, 

m

C

OA

U

C -

p

v

t

a-

0

t

L >, *' 

C

v- +

J

N

a, 

a ` 

L

o

N

U

N

O

C

N

to

U

O

L

C _ 

N

m

a

fo

1

Q

L

i

L

a1

U

L

4- 

co ++ 

co

M

L

OA

N

U

m ,} 

co

U+ .

v

aJ

C +>, ++ 

ra

N

L

i

to

OA

L

C '

a

V

aJ

C

L

aJ

L > 

N

W

C

t

Ln

C

a

a

o

L

aJ } 

qA

Q

L

E

E

L

U

O

L

Y

a

O

L

CO -

p

O

N

ri _ 

N += >` 

OA

U

fao

r0

U

E

m

Q  

fo

0

Ln  

a

v

O

O

N

O

41

aJ '

a  

fo

0

co

O  

3  

O

U `^ `

Ci •

p

W

ca

W

Y >- 

t

t

L `- 

x

U

a

L

a

a

O 

LJ

U

3

N • 

co

t .

0

2

U

aJ

N

aJ

aJ

fo _ + 

C

a) -

p

U

C

m

4— 

p

U

cu

N ++ _ 

O

C

o

a, 

CN7* 

t

a

a

v

a

a>
i

3

E

V

o

U

m

o

coo

N

o ' 

m +' _ 

E -

ato
w

o

U

Q 

tin

O '

X

to

E

11 —_

m

a-+ 

W ++ 

W

C

O 

Q

E'

L — 

0

L

to

O

U

a) 

C

N

a1

to -

a

C

t

C

OA

N ++ > 

t ++ 

O

C

t

s
L

co '

a

U > 

f6

O} 

O

LO

B

0- 

a) 

M — 

L +

N•' 

fC

CL +

S_ 

O +

t, 

N

V ++ 

0

OA

C +_' 

E

OL

U

i "

0

cu

N ' }' 

a

L

C

O

tB

L

a

a

M

a' 

A -°

a

a>
i

o

ca

0

v

t

cu

o

0

0

co _ 

a

cLa

v

E

w - 

L ° 

Q

M

v

c

a, 

v

C

0

a, ° 

ra

E

o

fo ++ 

U

U

C

aJ

Q

co .

0 > (

0

4J

a ° 

O

O

aJ

L `- +, — 

L

t

O

V

L

t° 

a) 

N

Ucu
Y

L

i ° 

O

W

O

V

O

L •

ca

co •

C

fo

m

Q! 

U = 

0

v

fo } 

N-

0OJ .
0 +' ~ 

S

a

4- 

ai

m

co +' 

0

a

Q _ > 

O

4- 

W

C

0

N

C

i

C ° 

7

Q *' 

0

C

m

fo

E

O

O

V

Z

v +, + 

O

aJ

4- 

O

N

O

cr

O

C `

aj _ 

0

aJ

aJ

o

O

Z

Y

t

C

L +' 

o

U +

O+ 

C

aJ

C `< -

0

w

Vr

N

O

O

ai

u° —

u > 

E

v }, 

N

M +_' ° -

0 -

a

o

U

O

0

o

ca

U

Y

v

s

C

Q

L ++ 

OC

o

a) 

Y" + 

a, 

p > 

CO

Q

O

N +, 

co

U

C

D

U

H

3

0

O4A

0

fo

z' 

U

C

OA — 

C

L

O

LL

U

v

Q

N

N

C

N

U

aJ

Y

Ll

N +

a) 

C

L ++ 

Q — 

aJ

N

N

co

O

L +, 

O

do

O

O

ai

V ° 

N ° 

N

O

d

L

N

a) 

fo

V

V >- 

C

a7

L

a) 

C

cu

N ++ 

O - .

L

a 

to

L

aJ

a

4

Ln

N

Qi

E

Q '

L

Ln > 

a% 

L > 

O

L

w

co

Z

C

L

L

n

N — 

0

o

U  '

C

L

O

O

co ,

n

O

OA

U

co _ 

U

N

N

CU

O > 

U +' 

C

a
v- 

p + 

C

a1

aJ

aJ . >

i

W

E

C

a

m

N

O

Y }' 

O

aJ

C ° 

t

0

t

0

N

O

ca

Y

E

CU

c3o

co

cCa

c

o

a -

a

a

a) -

a

L . 

E > 

a, 

a) 

a, 

t

co

v

4- 

CL) 

u + + ' 

c>

a

C

C

Q

L

v

L ++ '

N

aJ

co > 

aJ

m > > 

t

L

co

L

O

L

O

Q

N

aJ

aJ + 

O

a

U

C

E

4- > 

E

OA

t' 

C

C

a, +

J

o

3

a ° 

N

CU

O

a) 

N

3

Q

N

co

0

0

m

O

L

Q > 

a ` 

w- ° ° 

a) 

a) ++ 

co

m -

0 '(

3

a) 

E

d ° 

LO

OCA

co

at

L

N

N

C

L

L

aJ

p

O

N

t/

1

4, 

O

U +, "

a

O

aJ

a

s

C + 

cLa -

a

hA

U

O `{- 

W

a) 

t

N

to

Lli

p

L '

p

V

aJ

N

p

N

L

L

4. 

Z

C

a) 

N

t

Q  

C

a1

a) 

C ++ 

C

N +

J

L

t

N +- 

N

N ++ 

N

a— 

O

N

m

ate-+ 

N ++ 

L

O

O

fo

W

E -

0a  

H

m

co

W ,

W

c*

a +' 

N

a "

a

O

L

a +- 

L> 

W

O

C

ro

N

c  

c

o

a

v • 

i

c— 

a

0 •

o

0

o

U

a ' '

1

c

N

c _ 

E

oo _ 

c +

J

H -

a

F- +

C, _ 

I- 

Ln

i

U

4CA

A

aN+ _ 

C

U

U > > 

X

O

U

aQJ

W

OA

C ° 

L ++ 

C

U

to

LL

O

U

L

0

a, 

aj

a .

0

C

a) 

E>> 

C °' 

C

o

N

E

N '

co

@

U

a

CO

L

V

OA

N

W

SMA >> 

Q

a ° 

U

L

O

a) „ 

Q

CD

V

Y

W

N

co

fo

L

ei  

L

a> '> "

0

v

C -- 

a, -- 

L -- 

v

a, 

a 

a

c

a, 

v

L

L -- 

4- --- 

O

0 -- 

v

C

v

0

o

v

O

v

o ._ 

N

m

L

co

0

L -

0 .

0

LO) 

co

0

3

C

d

a
4+ (

41

0

0

a 

L

G

L

tT

s

a

to) 

a

L

OA

U

Q



E



RESOLUTION NO. 2023 —" 

RESOLUTION OF INTENT TO DEVELOP THE 300 AND 400 BLOCKS OF SOUTH CENTER
STREET FOR RESIDENTIAL INFILL AND ADVERTISE A REQUEST FOR QUALIFICATIONS

FOR DEVELOPMENT

WHEREAS, the City of Goldsboro adopted the Downtown Master Plan on August 6, 2007 identifying
the 300 and 400 blocks of South Center Street for a private developer to create residential infill. And; 

WHEREAS, the City of Goldsboro owned the majority of the non -built properties in these two blocks
and purchased the fifteen remaining properties to secure an entire city block at a cost of $169, 139. And; 

WHERAS, the City of Goldsboro completed three Center Street Streetscape projects from 2011 to
2020. And; 

WHERAS, the final phase of the Center Street Streetscape project was completed on the 300 and 400
blocks of South Center Street in 2020, in preparation for residential infill, including expanded sidewalks, green
space, a linear pedestrian park in the median, bike paths, lighting, traffic circles and buried overhead utility
lines. And; 

WHERAS, Streetscape construction also addressed slope issues on these two blocks, aged subsurface
infrastructure and added a unique median design to improve pedestrian circulation, compliment previous phases
of Streetscape projects, and support residential development and connect residents to the commercial core. And; 

WHERAS, in preparation for the successful identification of a private developer to carryout residential
infill, the Downtown Development Department contracted economic development consultant, Randall Gross, to
conduct developer interviews. And; 

WHEREAS, it was recommended that the City prepare a Request for Qualifications to identify a
qualified, suitable developer to prepare a project that aligns the City' s development goals with the investment
model of the developer. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Goldsboro North
Carolina, that this Resolution is executed by Council on September 5, 2023 to advertise a Request for
Qualifications for South Center Street Residential Infill. 

This resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after the
5ch

day of September 2023. 

Attested by: 

oll J nes, eputy City Clerk



Pro je c t  Site  Ma p  with  Plo t  Dim e n s io n s Pro je c t  Site , Ae ria l Vie w 

So u th  Ce n te r Re s id e n t ia l In fill



REQUEST FOR
QUALIFICATIONS

Residential Infill Development
South Center Street, Downtown Goldsboro

RFQ 2023-003

DR
AF
T



TABLE
OF
CONTENTS

GOAL STATEMENT & PROJECT ORGANIZATION  

PROJECT DESCRIPTION & BACKGROUND

EVALUATION PROCESS & SCHEDULE

INSTRUCTION

GENERAL PROVISIONS

CONTACT INFORMATION

SELECTION PROCESS

1

2-6

7-8

8-9

10

11

12DR
AF
T



GOAL STATEMENT

PROJECT ORGANIZATION

Downtown Goldsboro

PRIVATE DEVELOPOR INVESTMENTS
REQUEST FOR Qualifications

FOR 
SOUTH CENTER STREET RESIDENTIAL INFILL

RFQ 2023-003
 

The City of Goldsboro is interested in attracting private-sector
investments to create infill development options to address
gaps in housing offerings adjacent to downtown's commercial
core. The City is requesting proposals from qualified developers
interested in building historical, market rate, residential
developments along South Center Street. 

All developers responding to this RFQ shall be experienced in
designing and building residential properties and will be held to
quality standards as addressed in the Downtown Goldsboro
Design Standards Guidelines. 

1

DR
AF
T



The City of Goldsboro has ownership of 6.11 acres, adjacent to downtown's
commercial core (the commercial core is comprised of 16 blocks from Ash Street to
the north, Spruce Street to the south, George Street to the west, and William Street to
the east). The project site spans latitudinally from Spruce Street (north) to Elm Street
(south) and longitudinally from James Street (west) and John Street (east). As
directed by the Downtown Master Plan, the properties were purchased and the land
was prepared for solicitation to a private developer for the construction of market
rate homes. (see pg. 6 for infrastructure improvement information)

The project site is zoned Central Business District (CBD). The CBD is established to
maintain and strengthen the concentration of commercial, service, residential, and
institutional uses that serve the entire community and region. The district
encourages a mix of high density, pedestrian oriented uses compatibly designed
and arranged around the existing compact core. The district is intended to
safeguard the unique architectural character, social activity, and cultural value of
the downtown while promoting its continued success and redevelopment. There is
no minimum lot size. This District allows significant flexibility among uses and site
designs.

PROJECT BACKGROUND & DESCRIPTION

2

Project Site Map with Plot Dimensions Project Site, Aerial View 

DR
AF
T



The City of Goldsboro is located in Eastern North Carolina and serves as the county
seat for Wayne County. Goldsboro is situated in North Carolina’s Coastal Plain, and
bordered on the south by the Neuse River and on the west by the Little River. It is
approximately 50 miles southeast of Raleigh, the state capital, 40 miles southwest of
Greenville, and 75 miles north of Wilmington, North Carolina.

When Wayne County was formed in 1789, the town of Waynesborough developed along
the banks of the Neuse River around the county courthouse. In the late 1830’s, the
Wilmington and Raleigh (Weldon) Railroad line was built to the east of
Waynesborough. At the intersection of the railroad and the New Bern Road, a hotel was
built, and a community began to establish itself. This community became known as
Goldsborough’s Junction after Major Matthew T. Goldsborough, an Assistant Chief
Engineer with the railroad line. The town of Goldsborough was incorporated in 1847, and
the name officially changed to Goldsboro in 1869. 

The City of Goldsboro became the county seat for Wayne County in 1847 and has
expanded to an area encompassing over twenty-eight square miles. The City has a
diversified economy based upon federal military and local governmental institutions,
agriculture, manufacturing, a mix of wholesale and retail businesses as well as
numerous service providers. This diversity is also reflected in the international
composition of the manufacturers that have corporate ties with Great Britain, Japan,
Mexico, South Africa, and India. Excellent railroad and two interstate highways (US
Highway 70/future Interstate 42 and US Highway 117/Interstate 795) intersect Goldsboro
offering high-speed access for commerce within 30 minutes driving time to interstate
highways I-95 and I-40. With a population exceeding 34,250 Goldsboro has developed
largely as the transportation center for the area’s agriculture industry.

Goldsboro takes great pride in being the home of Seymour Johnson Air Force Base.
Today, Seymour Johnson AFB hosts distinguished military units from across the country,
acts as Goldsboro’s largest employer and introduces Americans everyday to the
beauty of our fine City. 

The City operates under the Council-Manager form of government. The Mayor is
elected at-large and is the presiding officer of the Council. The six Councilmembers are
elected from the six districts. The Mayor and Councilmembers serve four-year
concurrent terms. The City Manager serves as the Chief Executive Officer and Budget
Officer, responsible to Council for administration of all City affairs to effectively and
efficiently deliver services to residents, visitors, businesses and customers.
The City provides a wide range of services: police and fire protection; sanitation, street
maintenance, and cemetery; parks and recreation; engineering, planning, zoning and
inspections; event center and theatre; community relations and development; and
general administrative services. In addition, the City owns, operates water, sewer,
compost and stormwater utilities.

Additional information can be found on the City’s website at www.goldsboronc.gov. 

3

Community Background

DR
AF
T

https://www.goldsboronc.gov/


North and South Center Street have undergone significant renovations as a
result of the Center Street Streetscape Improvement Project. Over the course of
three phases, from 2008 to 2020, Streetscape improved the aesthetics,
environment, and economic vitality of Downtown Goldsboro.

Each of the three phases incorporated elements to promote a more
pedestrian-friendly downtown environment. Renovations included redesigning
the walkways along Center Street to accommodate for wider sidewalks, bike
lanes, and a median that features greenery and outdoor seating options.
Additionally, roadways along Center Street were renovated to include parallel
parking options and three roundabouts to allow for easier traffic flow through
downtown. To further increase pedestrian flow to downtown throughout the
year, The Hub was created to serve as a downtown park for residents. The Hub
is utilized year round by residents for recreational activities and is the host site
for annual festivals and concerts. These design changes to Center Street have
aided efforts to increase the pedestrian-friendly atmosphere and walkability of
Downtown Goldsboro. 

Additionally, infrastructure improvements such as water and sewer lines have
been extended to South Center Street to accommodate future developments.  

Finally, sculptures, murals, and interactive art pieces were included throughout
downtown. These fixtures help to spotlight local artists and enhance the visual
aesthetic of downtown. 

The completion of Streetscape has transformed Downtown Goldsboro into a
vibrant, inviting, and pedestrian-friendly environment. 

3

Downtown Aesthetic & Infrastructure Improvements 

Linear ParkDowntown Streetscape The Hub 

DR
AF
T



Since the completion of Streetscape in 2020, Downtown Goldsboro's economic
vitality has increased. Specific economic statistics by year can be seen in the
graph below. 

As of 2022, Streetscape's completion resulted in the creation of 130 new
downtown businesses and 545 new jobs. Additionally, there has been
$34,730,390 in value added by public investment and $43,955,568 in value
added by private investment since the project's inception. These figures
showcase the positive returns downtown investment has had on the local
economy. 

The addition of residential developments on South Center Street will provide
residents access to the growing list of urban living experiences. With each
individual downtown tenant contributing an estimated $9,000 annually to the
downtown economy, the addition of high-density units along South Center
Street will continue to grow the value of property and attract further
investments in the future. 

4

Economic Statistics 

DR
AF
T



Recent Investments

In 2022, private investors completed a record historic rehabilitation project in our
downtown, developing six existing historic buildings for mixed-use purposes.
Specifically, the developments accommodate space for both commercial uses
and market-rate apartments. 

The new developments reintroduced an additional 12,000 square feet of ready-
to-lease commercial spaces (4 total). Additionally, 63 new market-rate
apartments were added, ranging from 300 sq. ft studios to 3br units. Inclusive
rent prices range from $1050 - $1950. The apartments reached full capacity at
the 6 month mark after their completion in April 2022. It is anticipated that the
added residences will contribute an estimated $600,000 annually to downtown
business sale revenues. 

These new developments are indicative of the growing demand for downtown
residential properties. The addition of single-family residences along South
Center Street, as outlined by this project, will provide increased variety and
capacity for those choosing to live downtown. 

5

The View at Wayne National -
Downtown Goldsboro

DR
AF
T



The City has deemed that smaller, high-density units would serve a unique
niche and meet a growing demand for persons wishing to live in an urban
environment. Specifically, the City is interested in creating a community of
market-rate townhomes or rowhouses, mixed with some higher-density
apartments. While design elements are flexible, the exterior should be
reflective of current downtown aesthetics, complementing the pedestrian-
centered Streetscape. 
 
Below are images that City staff and stakeholders feel reflect the desired
project outcome and will be successful at attracting residents. 

Project Design Inspiration  

6

DR
AF
T



SELECTION PROCESS

TEAM/EXPERIENCE

Downtown Goldsboro

Response shall indicate capability to deliver development solutions and offer
an overview of firm's staff, history, reputation and any specialized services and
areas of primary design practice.

Respondent should identify the team's experience and familiarity with similar
residential development projects by providing a summary of at least three (3)
similar projects in the Appendix. 

FINANCIAL ABILITY TO EXECUTE

M/WSBE PARTICIPATION

Submittals from qualified respondents who have demonstrated experience in
similar developments working in a downtown core will be given preferential
treatment. The response shall address the evaluation criteria and be limited to
no more than ten (10) pages with ten (10)additional pages of appendices,
which may include graphs, charts, photos, illustrations, or additional resumes.
The letter of introduction shall not exceed two (2) pages. All pages should be
letter size (8.5 x 11 inches), with a minimum font size of 11. Combinations of text
and graphic material may be used at the developer’s discretion to adequately
convey qualifications.

7

Respondents shall demonstrate their financial ability to undertake a
redevelopment of this scope.

Respondents must commit to have a significant involvement (at least 10%) in
all aspects of development phases by minority, women-owned, and small
businesses. 

DR
AF
T



SELECTION PROCESS CONTINUED

8

Downtown Goldsboro

Downtown Goldsboro Sculpture

Downtown Goldsboro

Any conflicts of interest that could be relevant to this project in
any manner.
Any projects/financing on which the respondent or any of its
members has defaulted.
Any litigation involving governments in the last ten years.
Whether the respondent or any officer, director, or owner
thereof has had judgments entered against them within the
past 10 years for breach of contract for construction or
development.
Whether the respondent has been in substantial
noncompliance with the terms and conditions of prior
construction or development contracts with a public body.
Whether any officer, director, or owner is currently debarred
from bidding or contracting by any public body, agency of any
state, or agency of the federal government.

RESPONDENTS SHALL DISCLOSE:

Goldsboro will conduct a review process to identify the response
that best meets the City's objectives and needs. The process will
begin with a review of all submitted responses, resulting in a short-
list of respondents deemed by the City to be most qualified,
experienced and financially-capable. A review of all responses and
materials will be conducted by a panel assigned by City staff. This
panel may seek the advice and input of others as they deem
appropriate. 

Upon review of the responses, the City may select at its sole
discretion, one or more respondents to make a formal
presentation to a panel. The City may solicit additional information
and/or materials from short-listed respondents at any time. 

EVALUATION PROCESS

DR
AF
T



Downtown Goldsboro Streetscape

EVALUATION PROCESS CONTINUED

SCHEDULE

Downtown Goldsboro

9

Downtown Goldsboro Sculpture

Demonstrated experience in master planning and placemaking
for residential infill developments.
Track record and demonstrated ability for success in public-
private partnerships.
Ability of the team to understand the goals and objectives in the
Downtown Master Plan, as well as the Historic District Design
Guidelines.
Willingness to enter into a contract with a government agency.
Compliance with and responsiveness to the RFQ.
Applicability of firm philosophy.
Past performance in the successful engagement of minority,
women-owned and small businesses on residential projects.

Responses to this RFQ will be evaluated according to the following
general criteria:

IISSUE DATE
DEADLINE FOR RFQ QUESTIONS
DEADLINE FOR STAFF RESPONSES
RESPONSE SUBMITTAL DUE DATE

SEPTEMBER 8, 2023
SEPTEMBER 22, 2023
SEPTEMBER 29, 2023
OCTOBER 6, 2023DR
AF
T



INSTRUCTION FOR SUBMISSIONS

SUBMISSION REQUIREMENTS AND CONTACT INFORMATION 
Respondents must submit one (1) electronic version of
qualifications, submitted as viewable and printable Adobe
PDF, via the City's Bid Site:
https://www.goldsboronc.gov/finance/bid-listings/
Respondents must first register to access the bid portal. All
submittals must be received on or before 12:00pm on October
6, 2023.

To be considered, all requested information shall be
submitted. All materials shall be presented succinctly in the
order as requested in this RFQ. Goldsboro has the authority to
make this selection and reserves the right to accept, modify or
reject any or all responses, in part or total, and to waive any
nonconformities determined to be in the best interest of the
project. 

RFQ CLARIFICATION AND QUESTIONS
Potential Respondents may submit questions about the
contents of this document. All inquiries must be written and
shall be emailed with the subject line "RFQ 2023-003:
Questions" to: EFonseca@goldsboronc.gov. 
Goldsboro shall issue an Addenda reflecting questions and
answers to this RFQ, if any, which shall be posted to the  City of
Goldsboro's bid portal. www.goldsboronc.gov

No information, instruction or advice provided orally or
informally by Goldsboro personnel, whether made in response
to a question or otherwise in connection with this RFQ, shall be
considered authoritative or binding. Respondents shall be
entitled to rely only on written material contained in an
Addenda to this RFQ. 

Inquiries will be accepted up to September 22, 2023. Any
further questions after this date will not be entertained.

F-86 Sabre Jet at Center/Ash

10

Downtown Goldsboro Event

DR
AF
T



GENERAL PROVISIONS
Ownership, Public Records, and Costs of Submittals
Upon submission, all responses become the property of the City
of Goldsboro. Responses are public record and subject to public
records law.

Non-Warranty of Request for Qualifications
Due care and diligence have been used in preparing this RFQ.
However, Goldsboro shall not be responsible for any error or
omission in this RFQ, nor for the failure on the part of the
respondents to ensure that they have all information necessary
to affect their response.

Request for Clarification
Goldsboro reserves the right to request clarification of
information submitted and to request additional information of
one or more respondents, either orally or in writing, at any time
during the evaluation and selection process.

Collusion
The Respondent, by submitting a response, declares that the
submission is made without any previous understanding,
agreement, or connection with any persons, respondents, or
corporations making a competing submission on the same
project, and that it is in all respects, fair and in good faith without
any outside control, collusion, or fraud.

Downtown Goldsboro

Downtown Goldsboro

11

Thank you!
CONTACT

ERIN FONSECA
Downtown Development Director
City of Goldsboro
PO Drawer A
Goldsboro, NC 27530
EFonseca@goldsboronc.gov
www.goldsboronc.gov

DR
AF
T



F





















G





















H



RESOLUTION NO. 2023- 5 I

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR AND CITY CLERK TO ACCEPT THE NCDOT
APPRAISAL OFFER TO PURCHASE RIGHT- OF-WAY FROM TWO CITY OWNED PARCELS

FOR NCDOT PROJECT U- 4753 WIDENING WAYNE MEMORIAL DRIVE

WHEREAS, the Department of Transportation has plans to make certain street and highway
constructions and improvements within the City under Project U-4753, in Wayne County; and

WHEREAS, the project consists of widening Wayne Memorial Drive from New Hope Road to US
70 bypass from two lanes to four lanes, while adding turning lanes on New Hope Road; requiring utility
relocations and the acquisition of right- of-way; and

WHEREAS, NCDOT needs to acquire right- of-way from two City owned parcels. The land
needed is roughly . 3 acres from parcel number 3610446826, and the entirety of parcel number
3610546722 which consists of .740 acres of right-of-way; and

WHEREAS, the project will also require replacing portions of the walking trail that runs along
New Hope Road, and relocating the heavily used multi- purpose path that runs adjacent to New Hope
Road; the path will be put back in place per the contract; and

WHEREAS, as required by NCDOT practices, an appraisal on the properties was performed. The
fair market value offered for the easements and right- of-way for parcel number 3610446826 is $ 161, 650. 

The amount of determined value for parcel 3610546722 is $ 75, 325 ( ofwhich $56,850 is for land
acquisition and $ 18, 475 for acquired improvements). The total offer for both acquisitions is $ 236, 975. 

NCDOT requests that the City of Goldsboro accept the appraised value as compensation for the
acquisition of the rights- of-way and easement; and

WHEREAS, staff consulted with a licensed commercial real estate broker who confirmed in their
professional opinion that the NCDOT appraisal offer was an accurate fair market representation of
property worth; and

WHEREAS, the City is granted the authority to dispose of the property through G. S. 160A- 274; and

WHEREAS, at the Council meeting on August 21, 2023, Council accepted the NCDOT appraisal
offer and agreed with moving ahead with NCDOT project U-4753 as soon as possible. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of
Goldsboro, North Carolina that the Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized to accept the NCDOT
appraisal offer to purchase right-of-way from two City owned parcels for NCDOT project U-4753
widening Wayne Memorial Drive. 

This Resolution shall be incorporated into the official Minutes of the City of Goldsboro, and shall be in
full force and effect from and after this

5th

day of September, 2023

Attested by: 

HoK J nes, Deputy City Clerk



FRM10-B    
Revised 2/17/15 

SUMMARY STATEMENT/CONTINGENT OFFER TO PURCHASE REAL PROPERTY 
DUE TO THE ACQUISITION OF RIGHT OF WAY AND DAMAGES 

 
 
 
TO: City of Goldsboro  DATE: 8/22/2023 
 200 N Center St  TO:  Lessee, if Applicable 
 Goldsboro, NC 27530  N/A 
 
TIP/PARCEL NO.: U-4753 004  
COUNTY Wayne WBS ELEMENT: 39927.2.1  
DESCRIPTION: SR 1556 (Wayne Memorial Dr.) from SW of SR 1003 (New Hope Rd.) to US 70 Bypass 
 
Dear Property Owner: 
 
The following contingent offer of just compensation is based on the fair market value of the property and is not less than 
the approved appraised value for the appropriate legal compensable interest or interests.  The approved value disregards 
any increase or decrease in the fair market value of the property acquired due to influence caused by public knowledge of 
this project.  The contingent offer of just compensation is based on an analysis of market data, comparable land sales, 
and, if applicable, building costs in the area of your property.  Please retain this form as it contains pertinent income 
tax information. 
 
 Value of Right of Way to be Acquired $ 80,375.00  
 
 Value of Permanent Easements to be Acquired $ 56,400.00  
 

Value of Temporary Easement (Rental of Land) to be Acquired  $ 0.00  
 
             Value of Improvements to be Acquired $ 24,875.00  
 
 Damages, if any, to Remainder $ 0.00  
 
 Benefits, if any, to Remainder                                                minus $ 0.00  
 
 TOTAL CONTINGENT OFFER $ 161,650.00  
 
The total contingent offer includes all interests other than leases involving Federal Agencies and Tenant owned 
improvements. 
 
(A) Description of the land and effects of the acquisition 
Subject property described in Deed Book 1892, Page 813, Wayne County Registry, contains approximately 2.799 acres 
of which 0.295 acres is being acquired as right of way, leaving 2.504 acres remaining on the right with access to New 
Hope Road.  Also being acquired is a Drainage Utility Easement (DUE) containing approximately 0.052 acres, a 
Permanent Utility Easement (PUE) containing approximately 0.120 acres, and a Permanent Drainage Easement (PDE) 
containing approximately 0.058 acres. 
 
(B)  The TOTAL CONTINGENT OFFER includes payment for the improvements and appurtenances described below:  
N/A 
      
 
Provided there is sufficient time remaining in the project schedule, you may repurchase these improvements for a 
retention value, with the stipulation that you remove them from the acquisition area at no expense to the Department. 
 
(C)  Should you desire to sell the Department the portion of your property considered to be an uneconomic  remnant or 
buildable lot, as explained to you by the Right of Way Agent, the total contingent offer would be: $ N/A . 
Please note that any contingent offer to purchase a remnant/buildable lot is conditioned upon the remnant/buildable lot 
being environmentally clean prior to the conveyance to the Department.  You may be required to provide the Department 
with a release from the appropriate environmental agency stating that all contaminants have been remediated and/or 
removed to their standards.  
 
The original of this form was handed/mailed, if out of state owner, to  Matthew Livingston 
      on August 22nd, 20 23 .  Owner was furnished a copy of 
the Right of Way Brochure/Owner’s Letter. 
 
I will be available at your convenience to discuss this matter further with you.  My telephone number is  252-814-6127 
 
Please be advised that the agent signing this form is only authorized to recommend settlement to the North Carolina 
Department of Transportation, and any recommended settlement is not a binding contract unless and until accepted by 
the North Carolina Department of Transportation by its formal execution of documents for conveyance of Right of Way, 
Easements, and/or other interests. 
 
   
  
 

(Signed) 
 Brian Blick - Right of Way Agent 
  



FRM10-B    
Revised 2/17/15 

SUMMARY STATEMENT/CONTINGENT OFFER TO PURCHASE REAL PROPERTY 
DUE TO THE ACQUISITION OF RIGHT OF WAY AND DAMAGES 

 
 
 
TO: City of Goldsboro  DATE: 8/22/2023 
 200 N Center St  TO:  Lessee, if Applicable 
 Goldsboro, NC 27530  N/A 
 
TIP/PARCEL NO.: U-4753 039A  
COUNTY Wayne WBS ELEMENT: 39927.2.1  
DESCRIPTION: SR 1556 (Wayne Memorial Dr.) from SW of SR 1003 (New Hope Rd.) to US 70 Bypass 
 
Dear Property Owner: 
 
The following contingent offer of just compensation is based on the fair market value of the property and is not less than 
the approved appraised value for the appropriate legal compensable interest or interests.  The approved value disregards 
any increase or decrease in the fair market value of the property acquired due to influence caused by public knowledge of 
this project.  The contingent offer of just compensation is based on an analysis of market data, comparable land sales, 
and, if applicable, building costs in the area of your property.  Please retain this form as it contains pertinent income 
tax information. 
 
 Value of Right of Way to be Acquired $ 54,200.00  
 
 Value of Permanent Easements to be Acquired $ 1,800.00  
 

Value of Temporary Easement (Rental of Land) to be Acquired  $ 850.00  
 
             Value of Improvements to be Acquired $ 18,475.00  
 
 Damages, if any, to Remainder $ 0.00  
 
 Benefits, if any, to Remainder                                                minus $ 0.00  
 
 TOTAL CONTINGENT OFFER $ 75,325.00  
 
The total contingent offer includes all interests other than leases involving Federal Agencies and Tenant owned 
improvements. 
 
(A) Description of the land and effects of the acquisition 
Subject property described in Deed Book 3195, Page 517, Wayne County Registry, contains approximately 0.740 acres 
of which 0.271 acres is being acquired as right of way, leaving 0.469 acres remaining on the right with access to New 
Hope Road.  Also being acquired is a Drainage Utility Easement (DUE) containing approximately 0.010 acres, a 
Temporary Construction Easement (TCE) containing approximately 0.014 acres. 
 
(B)  The TOTAL CONTINGENT OFFER includes payment for the improvements and appurtenances described below:  
N/A 
      
 
Provided there is sufficient time remaining in the project schedule, you may repurchase these improvements for a 
retention value, with the stipulation that you remove them from the acquisition area at no expense to the Department. 
 
(C)  Should you desire to sell the Department the portion of your property considered to be an uneconomic  remnant or 
buildable lot, as explained to you by the Right of Way Agent, the total contingent offer would be: $ N/A . 
Please note that any contingent offer to purchase a remnant/buildable lot is conditioned upon the remnant/buildable lot 
being environmentally clean prior to the conveyance to the Department.  You may be required to provide the Department 
with a release from the appropriate environmental agency stating that all contaminants have been remediated and/or 
removed to their standards.  
 
The original of this form was handed/mailed, if out of state owner, to  Matthew Livingston 
      on August 22nd, 20 23 .  Owner was furnished a copy of 
the Right of Way Brochure/Owner’s Letter. 
 
I will be available at your convenience to discuss this matter further with you.  My telephone number is  252-814-6127 
 
Please be advised that the agent signing this form is only authorized to recommend settlement to the North Carolina 
Department of Transportation, and any recommended settlement is not a binding contract unless and until accepted by 
the North Carolina Department of Transportation by its formal execution of documents for conveyance of Right of Way, 
Easements, and/or other interests. 
 
   
  
 

(Signed) 
 Brian Blick - Right of Way Agent 
  





















I



RESOLUTION NO. 2023- 6 d

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO WAIVE THE WORKERS' 

COMPENSATION INSURANCE REQUIREMENT ON A CASE- BY- CASE BASIS

WHEREAS, NCGS Chapter 97: Workers' Compensation Act, requires contractors with three ( 3) 

or more employees to have workers' compensation insurance. It is presumed that the risk with less

employees does not necessitate this insurance for most organizations; and

WHEREAS, at the Council meeting on August 21, 2023, Council concurred that a resolution
should be brought back to the September 5, 2023 meeting, to authorize the City Manager to waive the
workers' compensation insurance requirement on a case-by-case basis, for those who certify it is not
required by NCGS, via the Workers' Compensation Coverage Exemption Certification Form; and

WHEREAS, a City Workers' Compensation Coverage Exemption Certification Form was

developed for Council consideration to enable the City Manager on a case-by-case basis to waive the
workers' compensation requirement, when the benefit outweighs the risk and potential cost. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the City of
Goldsboro, North Carolina that the City Manager is hereby authorized to waive the workers' 
compensation insurance requirement on a case- by- case basis, for those who certify it is not required by
NCGS, via the Workers' Compensation Coverage Exemption Certification Form. 

This Resolution shall be incorporated into the official Minutes of the City of Goldsboro, and shall be in
full force and effect from and after this

5th

day of September, 2023. 

avid , Mayor

Attested by: 

40%4 4-- 
ffoll Jo es, Deputy City Clerk



Page 1 of 1 

Workers' Compensation Coverage 
Exemption Certification 
 

City of Goldsboro I Goldsboro, NC 27533 I 919-580-4362

This form must be completed by vendors to claim Workers' Compensation exemption when they have less than three 
(3) workers and do not have coverage through an insurance company. Please email the completed form to: 
cityclerk@goldsboronc.gov. 

Vendor Information 

Business Name:  Contact Name: 

Email Address: Phone #: 

Mailing address: 

City:  State: Zip code: 
N.C.G.S. Chapter 97 Workers' Compensation Act 

By signing below, the undersigned applicant hereby certifies the following with respect to Workers' 
Compensation Insurance Coverage: 

• I hereby certify that I am EXEMPT from the requirements of G.S. Chapter 97, requiring
workers' compensation insurance coverage for contractors that employ three or more
employees.

• If at any time I employ three or more employees, I will provide the City of Goldsboro with the
required Certificate of Insurance for workers' Compensation insurance coverage.

Vendor Signature Block

 Vendor Signature:   Date: _____/_____/______ 

  City Manager Approval Signature: Date: _____/_____/______ 

Notary Public and Seal 

I certify that signer above personally appeared before me this _____ day of 
___________, 20____, acknowledging to me that he or she signed the 
foregoing document.

Notary Public Signature: 

My commission expires: 

Seal: 

City Manager Signature Block



D

Moved to Individual Action

Bid Rejected



RESOLUTION NO. 2023- _____ 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING UPSET BID PROCESS 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Goldsboro and County of Wayne jointly own certain real property at 200 N. 

Carolina Street (Pin #2599773020); and  
 
WHEREAS, North Carolina General Statute § 160A-269 permits the city to sell real property by upset 

bid, after receipt of an offer for the property; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has received an offer to purchase the property described above, in the amount of 

$1,700.00 (One Thousand Seven Hundred Dollars and no/100) submitted by Housing Authority of the 
City of Goldsboro (Offeror); and 

 
WHEREAS, Offeror has paid the required five percent (5%) deposit on his/her offer in the amount of 

$85.00 (Eighty Five Dollars and No/100); 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Goldsboro, North Carolina, 

that: 
 

1) The City Council declares this property as surplus. 
2) The City Council authorizes sale of the property described above through the upset bid procedure of 

North Carolina General Statute § 160A-269. 
3) The Finance Director shall cause a notice of the proposed sale to be published in a newspaper of general 

circulation within its jurisdiction. The notice shall describe the property and the amount of the offer, and 
shall state the terms under which the offer may be upset. 

4) The Planning Department shall notify the adjoining property owners by U.S. mail that the property is 
being offered for sale under the upset bid procedure. 

5) Persons wishing to upset the offer that has been received shall submit a sealed bid with their offer to the 
office of the Finance Director at 200 N. Center Street, Goldsboro, NC 27530 during normal business 
hours within 10 days after the notice of sale is published. At the conclusion of the 10-day period, the 
Finance Director shall open the bids, if any, and the highest such bid will become the new offer. If there 
is more than one bid in the highest amount, the first such bid received will become the new offer. 

6) Upset offer and deposit shall be delivered in a sealed  envelope.  The written offer proposal must include 
the name of the person or business making the offer, address of said property, and Wayne County parcel 
identification number. The offer shall be signed by the individual or person with signature authority if a 
business entity.  The outside of the sealed envelope should have the address of the property, the words 
“Upset Bid” and include the address of the Property. 

7) The City of Goldsboro reserves the right to reject any or all offers at any time. 
8) If a qualifying higher bid is received, the Finance Director shall cause a new notice of upset bid to be 

published, and shall continue to do so until a 10-day period has passed without any qualifying upset bid 
having been received. At that time, the amount of the final high bid shall be reported to the City Council.  

9) A qualifying higher bid is one that raises the existing offer by not less than ten percent (10%) of the first 
$1,000.00 of that existing offer and five percent (5%) of the remainder of that existing offer.  

10) A qualifying higher bid must also be accompanied by a deposit in the amount of five percent (5%) of the 
bid; the deposit may be made in cash, cashier’s check, or certified check. The city will return the deposit 
on any bid not accepted, and will return the deposit on an offer subject to upset if a qualifying higher bid 
is received; provided that sufficient time has elapsed to allow for the payment draft, if by check, to clear 
the City’s central depository and be credited to such, the return of the deposit will then be issued within 
10 days of confirmation of clearing.  The city will refund the deposit of the final high bidder at closing or 
apply to the sales price, as determined at the time of closing by the Finance Director.  



11) Any Offeror’s bid deposit shall be refunded if it is not the final high bidder; or if mutually agreeable 
terms cannot be settled upon if no upset bids are received, provided that sufficient time has elapsed to 
allow for the payment draft, if by check, to clear the City’s central depository and be credited to such.  
Refund will be issued within 10 days of confirmation of clearing. 

12) The terms of the final sale are:  
a) City Council must approve the final high offer before the sale is closed, which it will do within 30 

days after the final upset bid period has passed. 
b) The Wayne County Board of Commissioners must approve the final sale by concurrence after final 

approval by City Council.  
c) Buyer must pay with cash, cashier’s check or certified check at the time of closing. 
d) Buyer must pay closing costs. 

13) The City reserves the right to withdraw the property from sale at any time before the final high bid is 
accepted and the right to reject at any time all bids. 

14) If no qualifying upset bid is received after the initial public notice, the offer set forth above is hereby 
accepted. City staff is authorized to seek concurrence from the Wayne County Board of Commissioners 
and upon such approval, the appropriate city officials are authorized to execute the instruments necessary 
to convey the property to Offeror. 

 
This resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after this 5th day of September, 2023. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
      _____________________________   
      David Ham, Mayor 
Attest: 
 
 
 
_________________________  
Holly Jones, Deputy City Clerk    

 







8/23/23, 8:25 AM Appraisal Card

realestate.waynegov.com/ITSNet/AppraisalCard.aspx?idP=2001969&Action=Auto 1/1

WAYNE COUNTY 8/23/2023 8:25:14 AM
WAYNE COUNTY &        CITY OF GOLDSBORO Return/Appeal Notes:   Parcel: 2599773020
200 N CAROLINA ST PLAT: / UNIQ ID 47355
79266550   ID NO: 12000068005001

COUNTYWIDE ADVALOREM TAX (100), CITY - GOLDSBORO (100)       CARD NO. 1 of 1  
Reval Year: 2019 Tax Year: 2023 N CAROLINA ST 1.0000 LT  SRC=  
Appraised by on 01702 WEST SIDE DOWNTOWN TW-12 CI-01FR-00EX-2 AT- LAST ACTION 20201027
CONSTRUCTION DETAIL MARKET VALUE  DEPRECIATION CORRELATION OF VALUE

TOTAL POINT VALUE  
BUILDING ADJUSTMENTS
TOTAL ADJUSTMENT
FACTOR
TOTAL QUALITY INDEX  

USE MOD
Eff.
Area QUAL

BASE
RATE RCN EYB AYB CREDENCE TO  

08 00       % GOOD  DEPR. BUILDING VALUE - CARD 0

TYPE: MULTIPLE RESIDENCE  

STYLE:  

 

DEPR. OB/XF VALUE - CARD 0
MARKET LAND VALUE - CARD 3,320
TOTAL MARKET VALUE - CARD 3,320
TOTAL APPRAISED VALUE - CARD 3,320
TOTAL APPRAISED VALUE - PARCEL 3,320
TOTAL PRESENT USE VALUE - PARCEL 0
TOTAL VALUE DEFERRED - PARCEL 0
TOTAL TAXABLE VALUE - PARCEL $ 3,320

PRIOR
BUILDING VALUE 0
OBXF VALUE 0
LAND VALUE 3,320
PRESENT USE VALUE 0
DEFERRED VALUE 0
TOTAL VALUE 3,320

PERMIT
CODE DATE NOTE NUMBER AMOUNT

ROUT: WTRSHD:
SALES DATA

OFF.
RECORD DATE DEED

TYPE Q/UV/I
INDICATE SALES

PRICEBOOK PAGE MOYR
03561 0348 10 2020 WD Q V 0
01044 0332 1 1983  U I 0

HEATED AREA  
NOTES

field chk 10/25/12
very bad shape
standing, but thats it
P3-14 DEMO FOR 2015

SUBAREA

TYPE
GS

AREA %
RPL
CS

FIREPLACE   
SUBAREA
TOTALS    

CODEQUALITYDESCRIPTIONCOUNTLTHWTHUNITS
UNIT
PRICE

ORIG %
COND BLDG#

SIZE
FACT AYBEYB

ANN DEP
RATE OVR

%
COND

OB/XF DEPR.
VALUE

TOTAL OB/XF VALUE 0

BUILDING DIMENSIONS    
LAND INFORMATION
HIGHEST
AND BEST
USE

USE
CODE

LOCAL
ZONING

FRON
TAGE DEPTH

DEPTH
/ SIZE

LND
MOD

COND
FACT

OTHER ADJUSTMENTS
AND NOTES
  RF   AC   LC  TO  OT

ROAD
TYPE

LAND
UNIT
PRICE

TOTAL
LAND
UNITS

UNT
TYP

TOTAL
ADJST

ADJUSTED
UNIT PRICE

LAND
VALUE

OVERRIDE
VALUE

LAND
NOTES

0100 0100 R-6 60 100 0.8500 2 1.0000
  

 65.00 60.000 FF 0.850 55.25 3315 0 

TOTAL MARKET LAND DATA   3,320  
TOTAL PRESENT USE DATA     



21.45

21.45

63

52

360.27
367.28

50

60

60

84.18

55

59.05

120

83.45

74.13 110

289

118

60

54

210

210

54

35

60

60

84

84

55

105.45

110

105.45

40

60

47

100

50
140

140

35
150

35

35

40 107

100

60

47

50

60

208

80

160

80

60

50

140

60

80

60
60160

C

C

Z

B

B

A

A

B

D

B

A

207

103

505

507

503

206

110

201

407

413

103

208

405

204

210

404

112

413

404

207

406

201

201

201

205

413

112

110103

N
 C

ar
o

lin
a 

S
t

W Mulberry St

cgwynn
Typewritten Text
200 N. Carolina Streetas of 8/28/2023



Item J 




